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ADAPTING TO
CHANGING TIMES
Antigua Commercial Bank (ACB)
continues to operate in an environment
which is increasingly challenging. These
challenges are not unique to individuals and
companies in our immediate surroundings but
extend worldwide as global economic growth has
slowed down and the drivers of economic activity
are ever changing. Despite these uncertainties
however, ACB remains poised to meet the needs of our
stakeholders, as we continuously invest in technologies
that change the landscape of the way banking is done.
ACB stands firm by our commitment to offer convenient,
secure and reliable banking solutions. We remain
environmentally conscious and continue to demonstrate
this by our new shareholder package distribution
procedure as part of our evolving Green Initiative; the
electronic delivery of customer statements and the
wealth of products and services, information and
latest news updates that can be found on our
corporate website.
Times have changed, but our dedication
to providing our stakeholders with
exemplary service and innovative
products remains unwavering.
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CORPORATE
INFORMATION
Registered Office and Postal Address
Thames & St. Mary’s Streets
P.O. Box 95, St. John’s, Antigua, West Indies
Service Locations
ACB Head Office: Thames & St. Mary’s Streets, St. John’s, Antigua
ACB Financial Centre: High & Temple Streets, St. John’s, Antigua
Village Walk Branch: Village Walk Commercial Center Ltd., Friars Hill Road, St. John’s, Antigua.
Airport Agency: V.C. Bird International Airport, Coolidge, St. George, Antigua
Barbuda Agency: Codrington, Barbuda
ATM Locations
ACB Head Office: Thames & St. Mary’s Streets, St. John’s, Antigua
ACB Financial Centre: High & Temple Streets, St. John’s, Antigua
Village Walk Commercial Center Ltd.: Friars Hill Road, St. John’s, Antigua
Airport Agency, V.C. Bird International Airport: Coolidge, St. George, Antigua
Barbuda Agency: Codrington, Barbuda
Epicurean Fine Foods & Pharmacy: Epicurean Drive, St. John’s Antigua
Townhouse Mega Store Plaza, All Saints & American Roads, St. John’s, Antigua
Bargain Centre Supermarket: Perry Bay, St. John’s, Antigua
Email Address
acb@acbonline.com
Website
www.acbonline.com
Contact Number
(268) 481-4200
Fax Number
(268) 481-4229
Independent Auditors
Grant Thornton, Chartered Accountants
11 Old Parham Road, P.O. Box 1531, St. John’s,
Antigua
Corresponding Banking Relationships
St. Kitts- Nevis- Anguilla National Bank Limited
Republic Bank (Grenada) Limited
1st National Bank of St. Lucia Ltd.
Bank of St. Vincent and the Grenadines
National Bank of Anguilla Ltd.
Bank of Saint Lucia
Eastern Caribbean Central Bank
Republic Bank (Barbados) Ltd.
Bank of America
Bank of Montreal
RBTT Bank Jamaica Ltd.
Republic Bank (Guyana) Limited
National Bank of Dominica
Deutsche Bank Trust Company, N.A.
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Notice of ANNUAL
General Meeting
NOTICE IS HEREBY GIVEN that the Fifty – Eight Annual General Meeting
of Antigua Commercial Bank will be held in the Conference Room at
the City View Hotel located on Newgate Street, St. John’s, Antigua on
Thursday March 13, 2014 at 3:00pm.
AGENDA
1.

Call to Order

2.

Prayers

3.

Agenda

4.

Chairman’s Remarks

5.

(a) Confirm the Minutes of the Fifty - Seventh Annual General Meeting;
(b) Consider the Matters Arising from the Fifty - Seventh Annual General Meeting
Minutes;

6.

Present the Chairman’s and Directors’ Reports

7.

Approve the Financial Statements for the year ended September, 30, 2013 and the report of the 		
Auditors

8.

Declare a Dividend for the financial year ended September, 30, 2013

9.

Elect Directors and fix their remuneration

10.

Appoint the External Auditors for the year ending September, 30, 2014 and authorize the Board to 		
fix their remuneration

11.

Transact any other business which may properly come before an Annual General Meeting of 		
Shareholders.

BY ORDER OF THE BOARD

RHODETTE PAIGE
LEGAL COUNSEL/ CORPORATE SECRETARY
January 31, 2014
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”

We recognize
that to progress
in business, we
must adapt to
the ever changing
environment in
which we continue
to operate. At
ACB, we strive to
be a dynamic
institution,
ready to
meet the
challenges
ahead.

”

C. DAVIDSON CHARLES
CHAIRMAN- BOARD OF DIRECTORS
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Chairman’s Report
OVERVIEW
Since 2008, the region’s economies have been under tremendous pressures as a result of the global financial
crisis. According to information supplied by the Eastern Caribbean Central Bank (ECCB), data for 2012 indicated
that economic activity in the ECCU contracted for a fourth consecutive year, although the pace of contraction
slowed relative to the average for the previous three years.
Real GDP is estimated to have declined by 0.2%, compared with an average contraction in the previous three
years (2009-2011) of 2.2 %. The ECCB further stated that this performance came against the backdrop of uneven
growth and uncertainties in the global economy with major trading countries such as the USA recording moderate
growth.
The original forecast for the ECCU was for real GDP to increase by 1.5% in 2013 as a result of heightened activity
in major sectors of the various economies such as, hotels and restaurants and construction, with the momentum
expected to carry over into 2014. While this is seemingly welcomed news, the fact is that Antigua & Barbuda
continues to be challenged by the state of the economy in the vital tourism sector in particular and a high and
increasing unemployment rate, to the extent that the projected growth in GDP for 2013 has been revised downwards to 1.2% from previous estimates as high as 2.3%. This does not augur well for the medium term so that the
challenges, which featured in fiscal 2013, are expected to feature again in fiscal 2014.

PERFORMANCE- ACB GROUP
Despite the financial and economic challenges that have assailed the local economy and by extension businesses
and individuals in fiscal 2013, the Antigua Commercial Bank Group continued along its profitable path with $7.6
million in net income. This performance is significantly below the $14.6 million realized last year due to loan
provisioning and investment writedown. In an environment of uncertainty and one where businesses have been
experiencing difficulties servicing their commitments, the performance could be considered reasonable. In terms
of the Balance Sheet, the Group’s asset base grew by $44 million to $0.96 billion and as was the case in previous
fiscals, the Group’s liquidity remained consistently strong throughout fiscal 2013 and consequently, it has always
been in a very good position to meet all its commitments.

ACB MORTGAGE & TRUST COMPANY LTD.
Despite the challenges, the ACB Mortgage & Trust Company Ltd. (the Subsidiary) recorded an expansion in its
asset base by 2.2% to $271.9 million from $266.2 million. The Subsidiary’s core business of loans and advances
also expanded with a 1.3% increase to $179.9 million from $177.7 million. The outcome was underpinned by the
Deposit Liability portfolio growth of 2.3% to $218.6 million from $213.6 million.
The Subsidiary increased its net interest margin by $0.8million through a combination of proactively managing
declining interest rates on both interest income and interest expense. Overall Interest Income declined marginally
by 0.5% to $19.3 million from $19.4 million while interest expense dropped 9.0% to $9.1 million from $10.0 even
though the Deposit Liability portfolio expanded by $5 million.
The Subsidiary recorded profit of $5.3 million, a decline of 17.4% as compared with $6.5 million for the prior year.
Notwithstanding the decline, the Subsidiary continued to add substantial value to the Group.
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SOCIAL RESPONSIBILITY
Antigua Commercial Bank is not only in the business of
providing financial products and services that will create
wealth for our stakeholders but also creating educational
opportunities, giving new life to cultural traditions such
as panorama, providing resources for our youth that will
propel them into attaining a brighter future and giving a
helping hand to the less fortunate in the communities
we serve.
The ACB Group is already viewed as a model corporate
citizen, nevertheless, we consistently seek opportunities
to do even more as “giving back” is one of our core values.
Our Board and staff members are also encouraged to
give back. Each year they answer the call willingly by
volunteering their time and knowledge with the youths
who participate in the International College Fair’s
Business Interview Challenge, by personally providing
gifts and hosting an independence luncheon for the
residents of the Fiennes Institute and providing food
packages to many families in need during the Christmas
season.
Antigua Commercial Bank can be counted on to not
only be great stewards of our stakeholders’ money but
also be an institution that is a caring and good corporate
citizen with the best interest of our community as one of
its goals.
We provide a synopsis of how funds allocated under this
heading were disbursed in terms of percentage:% Funds distribution
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LOOKING AHEAD
Many valuable lessons have been learnt since the
financial crisis surfaced in 2008 so that notwithstanding
more than 5 years of economic and financial challenges,
ACB remains positioned to continue on its profitable
path. Our confidence in our future is fortified by our
accomplishments over an extended period of economic
and financial difficulties and challenges, locally and
internationally and despite the fact that the predictions
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for 2014 are not much better than what prevailed in the
past five years, we enter the new fiscal determined to
ensure that our established tradition of Strength, Service
and Solutions is maintained.

ACKNOWLEDGEMENTS
Our customers, shareholders and other stakeholders
continue to support the Group throughout these difficult
economic times. On behalf of the Board of Directors,
I express my deep gratitude and appreciation for their
unwavering loyalty and confidence in the ACB Group.
I also thank our staff for their invaluable contribution to
the Group’s results in fiscal 2013 and their pursuit of
excellence over the years.

C. DAVIDSON CHARLES
CHAIRMAN- BOARD OF DIRECTORS

Investor
Relations

An informed shareholder base reflects well on any Company. In this context, Antigua Commercial
Bank continues to intensify its efforts to ensure its shareholders have ready access to all relevant
information. This is demonstrated by the recent addition of an Investor Relations page on our
corporate website, www.acbonline.com, the annual hosting of the Shareholders Business Luncheon
with the headline topic of discussion “Your Shareholding and You”, and the transformation of our
shareholders’ package distribution process to incorporate circulation via compact disc.
Adapting well to the changing needs of our shareholders.
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At Antigua Commercial Bank, we have always prided ourselves on our
commitment to giving back to the communities we serve. This is demonstrated
by our continuous sponsorship of a number of worthy causes that range from
social to academic, from culture to athletics. Our stakeholders have put their
trust in the ACB Group and we in turn have dedicated our resources to work
towards fostering a better community that we can all feel proud to be part of.
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1.	Members of LIME Hells Gate Steel Orchestra visibly excited
after the announcement of their championship victory at the ACB
National Panorama Competition.
2. 2012 National Inter-School Panorama Competition.
3. ACB’s Gladston Joseph shares a light moment with a resident of
the Fiennes Institute.

4.	Local entrepreneur, Alvis Abbot displays her craft at ACB’s
Christmas in the Park.
5. Participants at the 2012 International College Fair.
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2012 National Inter-School Panorama Competition.
ACB’s 2012 Employee of the Year, Dawn Hillhouse (centre), flanked
by runners up, Devlene Steele (left) and Danielle Reis (right)
Cross section of the attendees and university representatives at the
2012 International College Fair.

9.

ACB’s Director Gordon Derrick (left), along with Prime Minister
of Antigua & Barbuda the Hon. Dr. Baldwin Spencer, make the
presentation to the 2013 LIME Hells Gate Steel Orchestra.
10. Sanctuary Choir performing their melodious renditions of carols at
ACB’s Christmas in the Park.
11. ACB’s Jacqueline Hewlett (left ) and Heidi Weste (right) assist in the
serving of meals at the annual ACB Fiennes Institute Luncheon.
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Directors’ Report
The strength of Antigua Commercial Bank’s (ACB) governance
starts at the top, with a Chairman leading a Board of Directors
comprised of experienced and well-informed Directors, who
give priority to strategic planning, ensuring that policies exist
to promote ethical behavior throughout the organization. By
adopting a proactive corporate governance structure that
consistently embraces industry- leading standards, this strength
permeates throughout the organization.
Central to their role as Directors is their responsibility to ensure
that ACB has the right strategy, risk management and talent to
succeed and deliver long-term value. Your Board continues to
dedicate its time with Management reviewing strategic plans
aimed at achieving our goals as manifested generally in the
Group’s Mission, Vision and Philosophy.
During the financial year, the Board reviewed and updated the
Group’s policies in accordance with best practices and also
approved new policies to enhance the operations of the Group.
Key among these were the strengthening of its Liquidity Policy
to meet the changing environment and enhance liquidity risk
management; the establishment of WhistleBlower Guidelines
to allow for concerns raised to be channeled with the level of
confidentiality and anonymity, as deemed appropriate in each
circumstance; and the development of a Key Management
Succession Policy to identify, recruit, groom and retain top
talent within the Organization to strengthen the leadership
capacity of the Group. In terms of Corporate Governance, the
Board established the Board/ Sub-Committee Performance
Assessment Policy adhering to additional ECCB guidelines and
also developed a Director Orientation Policy to facilitate the
proper induction of new Board members.

BOARD COMPOSITION
The Composition of the ACB Board of Directors is determined in
accordance with the Company’s Bylaws (Clause 4). The Board is
comprised of ten (10) non- executive Directors, and is structured
in such a way as to ensure that the interests of shareholders are
represented fairly and objectively.
As at September 30, 2013, C. Davidson Charles is the elected
Chairman of the Board, assisted by his Vice-Chairmen, Peter
Blanchard, Gordon Derrick and Michael Roberts. The remaining
Members of the Board are Philip Harris, Craig J. Walter, Alincia
Williams- Grant, Mavis George, Lorraine Headley and Reginald
Peterson.
The Board of the Company’s wholly owned subsidiary, ACB
Mortgage & Trust Company Ltd., is comprised of five (5)
ACB Directors together with two (2) Directors chosen from
the shareholders of ACB in accordance with the relevant
provisions of its Bylaws. The Chairman of the Trust Board is
Gordon Derrick and the remaining Members of the Board are
C. Davidson Charles, Michael Roberts, Philip Harris, Peter
Blanchard and Heather Mannix. There is currently a vacancy on
the Trust Board in relation to the second non- ACB Director, after
Reginald Peterson was elected to the ACB Board of Directors on
December 20, 2012.

BOARD MEETINGS
For the year ended September 30, 2013, the ACB Board of
Directors hosted twelve (12) monthly Meetings and held three
(3) Special Board Meetings. The following is an analysis of
Directors’ attendance:-

Name of Director

Percentage
Attendance

C. Davidson Charles

100%

Peter Blanchard

100%

Gordon Derrick

67%

Michael Roberts

93%
80%

Philip Harris

100%

Craig J. Walter
Alincia Williams- Grant

80%

Mavis George

87%

Lorraine Headley

87%

Reginald Peterson (from January, 2013)

91%

With respect to the Board of Directors for ACB Mortgage & Trust
Company Ltd., during fiscal 2013, the Board hosted twelve (12)
monthly Board Meetings and held one (1) Special Board Meeting.
The following is an analysis of Directors’ attendance:-

Name of Director

Percentage
Attendance
92%

Gordon Derrick

100%

C. Davidson Charles
Michael Roberts

92%

Philip Harris

85%
100%

Peter Blanchard

85%

Heather Mannix
Reginald Peterson (from October, 2012
to December, 2012)

100%

DIRECTORS’ TENURE
Clause 4.4 (a) of the Company’s Bylaws stipulates as follows:“At every Ordinary General Meeting one- third of the
Directors shall retire from office. The Directors to
retire shall be those who have been longest in office
since their last election. As between Directors of equal
seniority in office, the Directors to retire shall be selected
from among them by lot. A retiring Director shall be
immediately, or at any future time, if still qualified, be
eligible for re-election.”
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Additionally, Clause 4.5 of the Company’s Bylaws provides as
follows:“Tenure: Unless his tenure is sooner determined, a
Director shall hold office for a period not exceeding
three years from the date from which he is elected or
appointed or until the close of the third Annual Meeting
of the Shareholders next following but he shall be
eligible for re-election, if qualified.”
At this year’s Annual General Meeting, three (3) Directors will
retire upon rotation and offer themselves for re-election in
accordance with the provisions of the Company’s Bylaws:1.
2.
3.

Vice Chairman Michael Roberts
(first elected – December 21, 2006);
Director Philip Harris
(first elected – December 21, 2006);
Director Mavis George
(first elected – September 24, 2009).

The Directors remain compliant with the provisions of section 3
of the Companies (Amendment) Act, 2009 that limits the tenure
of Directors of Public Companies.

STANDING COMMITTEES OF THE BOARD
The Board has established the following Standing Committees,
governed by their respective Terms of Reference, to
supplement the performance of its duties and the exercise of its
responsibilities:(i) GOVERNANCE AND EXECUTIVE COMMITTEE
Chairman - C. Davidson Charles
This Committee is responsible for assessing and directing
the Company’s overall approach to corporate governance
and supervises the executive and operational management
of the Group, as delegated by the Board.
(ii) AUDIT & RISK MANAGEMENT COMMITTEE
Chairman - Craig J. Walter
The Audit & Risk Management Committee performs the
following main functions:(a) receives and reviews reports from the Chief Internal
Auditor, Compliance Specialist and Risk Manager;
(b) oversees the quality, integrity and timeliness of the
Company’s financial reporting;
(c) makes recommendations to the Board on the
appointment of the External Auditor, Audit fees and
related matters;
(d) assesses the efficiency of risk management systems,
practices and procedures.
(iii) INVESTMENT COMMITTEE			
Chairman - C. Davidson Charles
This Committee is charged with the responsibility of
considering investment related matters within the confines
of the Group’s Investment policy and in pursuance of its
strategic objectives, as from time to time adopted.
(iv) CREDIT COMMITTEE
Chairman
- Peter Blanchard
The Credit Committee overseas the development and
implementation of sound credit policies and procedures and
considers credit matters in excess of Management’s limits
and where necessary, makes recommendations for the
further consideration of the Board of Directors.
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(v) HUMAN
RESOURCE
&
COMPENSATION
COMMITTEE
Chairman - Michael Roberts
This Committee monitors the industrial relations of the
Group, reviews the senior level organizational structure and
general staffing and makes recommendations to the Board
on human resource issues.
(vi) MARKETING AND PUBLIC RELATIONS COMMITTEE
Chairman - Gordon Derrick
The Marketing and Public Relations Committee asseses
the marketing needs of the Group in line with its goals and
objectives, considers marketing strategies and monitors their
effectiveness and ensures that the public relations needs of
the Group are being adequately met.
Recognizing the growing importance of Information
Technology within the context of an ever changing
and dynamic environment, the Board established a
TECHNOLOGY COMMITTEE during fiscal 2013. The
appointed Chairman is Alincia Williams- Grant and in
accordance with its approved Terms of Reference, the
Committee performs the following functions and duties:(a) Formulate and ensure the continued development of
a strategy for information technology in furtherance of
the Group’s overall Strategic Plan, as from time to time
adopted;
(b) Annually review the Procedural Manual for the IT
Department and any other IT related policies and
procedures;
(c)	Ensure that any information technology procured and /
or maintained is adequately coordinated to the benefit
of the Group’s operations;
(d)	Review reports and proposals with respect to information
technology related matters;
(e)	Make recommendations to Management on information
technology related expenditure;
(f) Provide advice, guidance and support on matters
of policy and practice with respect to information
technology related issues;
(g)	Monitor the implementation and usage of information
technology throughout the operations of the Group.
In addition to the Standing Committees, the Board has also
established the following Ad Hoc Committees to perform
designated duties, as may be required from time to time:(i)

Strategic Retreat Planning Committee;

(ii)

Building Committee;

(iii) ACB Louis
Committee

H.

Lockhart

Scholarship

Screening

(iv) Special Bylaw Review and Share Capital Committee
Committee attendance averaged 91% throughout the financial
year.

DIRECTORS’ TRAINING

As part of the Board’s continued commitment to the area of good
corporate governance, Directors have been accredited through
the Director’s Education and Accreditation Programme (DEAP)
offered by the Eastern Caribbean Securities Exchange (ECSE) in
collaboration with the Chartered Secretaries of Canada. During
the year, Directors Lorraine Headley, Reginald Peterson and
Heather Mannix successfully attained the designation Accredited
Director (Acc. Dir.).

Additionally, members of the Board participated in Corporate
Governance Seminars and Workshops held throughout the
financial period.

DIRECTORS’ INTERESTS
Clause 4.3 of the Company’s Bylaws requires each Director to be
a holder of at least 1000 ordinary shares in the Company.
As at September 30, 2013, Directors of the Company held or
controlled the following shareholdings in Antigua Commercial
Bank:Directors
C. Davidson Charles- Chairman
Gordon Derrick

Shareholding
(ordinary shares)
2,000

2,000

Michael Roberts

During the financial year, initiatives were taken to include the
addition of an Investor Relations section on our corporate
website www.acbonline.com; the continued encouragement of
our Shareholders to establish direct deposit instructions and to
update their files; and the environmentally conscious distribution
of Shareholder packages via compact disc. We are pleased
to report that our Shareholders have responded well to these
changes and we anticipate even better relations going forward.

EXTERNAL AUDITORS
The Board has resolved to recommend to Shareholders the
reappointment of Grant Thornton, as the Company’s External
Auditors for the financial year ending September 30, 2014.

15,832
97,250

Peter Blanchard

SHAREHOLDER RELATIONS

BY ORDER OF THE BOARD OF DIRECTORS

11,048

Philip Harris

3,294

Alincia Williams - Grant

2,000

Craig J. Walter

2,376

Mavis George

RHODETTE PAIGE
LEGAL COUNSEL/ CORPORATE SECRETARY

3,200

Lorraine Headley

25,948

Reginald Peterson

DIVIDEND
The Directors recommend a payment of $0.15 for each unit share
on the existing shareholding distribution as at February 17, 2014
for the financial year ended September 30, 2013.

SHAREHOLDING
The Securities Act, 2001, defines a Substantial Shareholder as
a person who has an interest in the shares of the Company, the
stated value of which is equal to or more than 5% of the issued
share capital of the Company. In accordance with our disclosure
obligations, it is noted that Shareholders, Sir Clare and Lady
Roberts own 7.16% of the issued share capital in the Company
as at September 30, 2013. Shown below is an analysis of the
Company’s shareholding as at September 30, 2013.
Size of Holding

No of
Shareholders
per category

Number of Ordinary
Shares per category

1-1,000

4,402

1,037,494

1,001-2,000

395

586,710

2,001-5,000

371

1,164,106

5,001-10,000

142

1,033,682

10,001-25,000

95

1,469,766

25,001-100,000

57

2,683,348

100,001-250,000

9

1,332,620

250,001-400,000

0

0

400,001-700,000

1

692,274

Total

5,472

10,000,000
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Investing in
Education
Education is vital to the survival of any nation and therefore plays an essential role in each of our
lives. For this reason, Antigua Commercial Bank is committed to investing in the bright minds of our
young people.
For decades, we have assisted the youths of our twin island state to realize their academic
endeavors. Our contribution to education is well documented. Our most recent recipients of the
Antigua Commercial Bank Louis H. Lockhart Scholarship 2013, Tristan Primus, and the ACB
Mortgage and Trust Co. Ltd. Secondary School Scholarship 2013, Ahijah Nibbs, continue to
excel in their respective fields with the view of making significant contributions to the development
of Antigua and Barbuda.
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”

With its strong
foundation, the
ACB Group is
poised to continue
to be the industry
leader by
offering
innovative
products and
solutions
to meet our
stakeholders’
changing
needs.

”

Gladston S. Joseph
General Manager
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Management Discussion
& Analysis
OVERVIEW
The extended difficult economic conditions proved very challenging for the Group in fiscal 2013. Some of our
corporate customers, who had earlier withstood the negative effects of declining sales and cash flows, were
forced either to downsize or go out of business, resulting in their inability to service their loans.
As a consequence, Non-Performing loans increased. Further, real estate security values came under much
pressure as a result of the downturn in the economy, necessitating unexpected high provisioning for loans.
Additionally, the Group’s equity investment in a few regional financial institutions became impaired due to a
significant fall in the value of its shares, and this necessitated a write-down to the detriment of the Group’s bottom
line. High unemployment also contributed to increased delinquency.

EARNINGS PER SHARE
Against the backdrop outlined above, the consolidated results for the Bank reflected earnings per share of $0.76
compared to $1.46 the previous fiscal and is as a result of the significant reduction in net profit as discussed below.
earnings per share
1.80
1.60
1.40
Amount in $

1.20
1
0.8
0.6
0.4
0.2
0
2010

2009

2011

2012

2013

The earnings per share calculation reflects a retrospective recognition of a 100% stock dividend in 2012

INTEREST INCOME
Total Interest Income declined by $2.5 million or approximately 4.0 % compared to the previous fiscal’s results
due largely to the increase in Non-Performing loans alluded to above. Specifically, income from loans declined
by $3.7 million or approximately 7.2 % but an increase of $1.3 million in income from investments partially offset
the shortfall.
INTEREST INCOME

Amount in millions

61
60.5
60
59.5
59
58.5
58
2009

2010

2011

2012

2013
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OTHER INCOME

ASSET GROWTH

This category was substantially higher than the level of
income generated the previous fiscal. It increased by
$3.3 million or 48% due primarily to the collection of $1.8
million of debts previously written off.

The Group’s assets grew by $44.1 million or 4.8%,
which was encouraging given the difficult financial and
economic conditions, that prevailed in fiscal 2013 and
prior years. Loans and advances, which, in the past,
represented the major portion of the growth, increased
by $9 million due to challenges in obtaining good lending
opportunities.

Other income

Amount in millions

12

asset growth

9

1000
6
Amount in millions

960
3
0
2009

2010

2011

2013

2012

920
880
840

INTEREST EXPENSE

800

This expense category increased by $0.3 million or 1.3%
largely as a result of an increase of some $52 million in
deposit liability, mainly Savings. These deposits ensured
that adequate liquidity was maintained on a consistent
basis in a difficult financial and economic environment.
These excess funds allowed for short term placements
with other banks, which generated interest income and
served to offset the increase in deposit cost.

OPERATING EXPENSE

2010

2009

2011

2012

2013

LOANS AND ADVANCES
The demand for loans declined in the fiscal and reflects
the lack of demand due to caution on the part of
businesses and high unemployment resulting from the
downturn in the economy. Nevertheless, as the graph
below depicts, the trend in loans continued to be upward
albeit not to the extent achieved in previous years.

These expenses increased to $34.7 million from $24.8
million primarily due to the increased provision of $6.3
million for impaired loans and $3.1 million for impaired
investments in two financial institutions.

Loans
and advances
Advances
loans
and
700
660

NET INCOME
The Group realized a consolidated net income of $7.6
million down from the $14.6 million generated the
previous year. The reasons for the decline are provided
in the “Overview” above.

Amount in millions

20
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5

2010

2011

580
540
500
2009

netNet
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Income

0
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Amount in millions

620
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OTHER AREAS OF THE GROUP’S PERFORMANCE AT A GLANCE
interest mix
deposit growth
LOANS & ADVANCES

DEPOSITS WITH OTHER BANKS
0
18%

200
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2009
2010
2011
2012
2013

82%

OTHER FINANCIAL HIGHLIGHTS
2009

2010

2011

2012

2013

Return on Assets

1.99%

1.70%

0.90%

1.59%

0.79%

Return on Equity

12.6%

10.4%

5.5%

9.5%

4.9%

9%

10%

19%

225%

20%

Book value of ordinary shares

25.46

27.86

28.47

30.91

15.69

Earnings per share

4.26

3.83

2.07

1.46

0.76

Dividends per ordinary Share

0.30

0.30

0.30

6.60

0.15

Provisions as a % of Loan Portfolio

4.1%

3.3%

4.6%

2.7%

3.5%

Provisions as a % of Non-performing Loan
Portfolio

33.63%

32.63%

37.41%

28.65%

24.43%

Efficiency Ratio

72.41%

76.30%

86.12%

73.73%

86.66%

Net Interest Margin

4.55%

4.07%

3.81%

3.92%

3.51%

Capital Adequacy Ratio

17.89%

19.62%

27.36%

22.70%

22.70%

Dividend Payout Percentage of Income (2013
declared)

• Dividend payout percentage and Dividends per Ordinary Share- Includes share dividend in 2012.

…………………………
Gladston S. Joseph
General Manager
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Gladston S. Joseph
General Manager

Denise Armstrong
Assistant General Manager
(Credit & Control)

Peter N. Ashe
Manager (ACB Mortgage &
Trust Company Ltd)

Rhodette F.C. Paige
Legal Counsel/Corporate
Secretary

Austen Gittens
Chief Internal Auditor

Jacqueline Hewlett
Compliance Specialist

Geoffrey Simmons
Manager (Retail Lending &
Recoveries)

Jonathan Lindsay
Manager (Customer
Relations & Service Quality)

M. Arlene R. Edwards
Manager (Private &
Corporate Banking)
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Joyanne Byers
Finance & Accounting Executive

Michael Robertson
MIS Manager

Jennifer Hector
Customer Service Officer

Eurel Hodge
Training and Recruitment Officer

Helen J. Looby
Operations and Accounting Officer

Maria Scotland
Audit Officer

Chermaine Emmanuel
Finance and Accounting Officer

Sharon E. Nathaniel
Corporate Accounts Executive

Sidlow Frank
Network Administrator / LAN
Analyst
[25] antigua commercial bank | annual report 2013

Dr. Austin Josiah
Human Resources Executive

Heidi Weste
Corporate Accounts Executive
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Service
Delivery

Exceeding the expectations of our customers and other stakeholders is of utmost importance to
us at Antigua Commercial Bank. To this end, we have updated our Customer Service Standards
which serve as a tangible demonstration of our commitment to ensuring our customers always have
the best in service and support. These standards convey our concern and appreciation for our
customers and our commitment to the delivery of service excellence.

[26] antigua commercial bank | annual report 2013

Banking
Banking
Made
Easy
Made
Easy

Times have changed and so has the way we conduct our banking transactions. At Antigua
Commercial Bank, we are committed to providing our customers with e-banking solutions that are
easy to use from anywhere, at any time.
Shop safely with your ACB International Debit Card, monitor your transactions at www.acbonline.
com, and pay your utility bills from the comfort of your home or office with our Internet Banking
service. Antigua Commercial Bank’s e-banking solutions provide the convenience you need from
the Bank you trust.
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Consolidated Statement of Financial Position
Antigua Commercial Bank Limited

Consolidated Statement of Financial Position
As
of September 30, 2013
As of September 30, 2013
(expressed in Eastern Caribbean dollars)
(expressed in Eastern Caribbean dollars)

Notes

2013
$

2012
$

46,874,508
128,041,731
55,629,782
5,451,569
612,303,700
3,336,185
62,996,953
37,977,955
8,025,074

32,826,819
110,512,220
45,544,289
5,451,569
603,660,429
3,258,905
69,358,007
38,271,920
7,685,626

960,637,457

916,569,784

3,065,874
783,290,472
9,647,719
1,101,179
–
6,617,192

8,906,544
731,402,638
10,497,406
1,193,643
2,100,000
7,935,764

803,722,436

762,035,995

36,000,000
10,726,756
47,799,154
62,389,111

5,000,000
10,000,000
79,440,311
60,093,478

Total equity

156,915,021

154,533,789

Total liabilities and equity

960,637,457

916,569,784

Assets

Cash and balances with the Central Bank
Due from other banks
Treasury bills
Statutory deposit
Loans and advances
Other assets
Investment securities
Property, plant and equipment
Pension asset

8
9
10
11
12
13
14
15
16

Total assets

Liabilities

Income tax payable
Deposits due to customers
Other liabilities and accrued expenses
Due under repurchase agreements
Long-term debenture liabilities
Deferred tax liability

20
17
18
22
23
20

Total liabilities

Equity

Stated capital
Statutory reserve
Other reserves
Retained earnings

24
25
26

Thenotes
notesononpages
pages
67 are an integral part of these
these financial
financial statements.
statements.
The
351toto101

Approved for issue by the Board of Directors on January 22, 2014
_____________________________ Chairman

_____________________________ Director
_________________________ Director
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Consolidated Statement of
Antigua Commercial Bank
Limited
Comprehensive
Income
Consolidated Statement of Comprehensive Income

For
the
year
September
30, 2013
For the
year
endedended
September
30, 2013
(expressed in Eastern Caribbean dollars)
(expressed in Eastern Caribbean dollars)

Notes
Interest income
Income from loans and advances
Income from deposits with other banks and investments

Interest expense
Savings accounts
Time deposits and current accounts
Debenture stock

Net interest income
Other operating income

27

Total income
Operating expenses
General and administrative expenses
Provision for loan impairment
Depreciation
Directors’ fees and expenses
Provision for impairment of investment securities

28
12
15
14

Operating income for the year
Taxation
Current tax expense
Prior year under accrual
Deferred tax (credit) charge

20

Profit for the year
Other comprehensive income
Net change in fair value of investment securities, net of taxes
Total comprehensive income for the year
Earnings per share

29

2013
$

2012
$

48,582,429
10,724,217

52,335,825
9,473,849

59,306,646

61,809,674

12,676,972
12,830,355
62,827

11,634,496
13,814,807
460,802

25,570,154

25,910,105

33,736,492

35,899,569

10,201,318

6,918,018

43,937,810

42,817,587

20,497,297
7,923,886
2,023,381
1,112,353
3,111,602

19,727,952
1,670,986
2,547,374
817,221
–

34,668,519

24,763,533

9,269,291

18,054,054

2,404,697
30,456
(788,800)

1,730,981
21,747
1,663,661

1,646,353

3,416,389

7,622,938

14,637,665

(1,754,009)

(1,473,628)

5,868,929

13,164,037

0.76

1.46

The
arean
anintegral
integralpart
partofofthese
thesefinancial
financialstatements.
statements.
The notes
noteson
onpages
pages35
1 to 101
67 are
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Consolidated Statement of Cash Flows
Antigua Commercial Bank Limited

Consolidated
Statement
of Cash
Flows
For
the year
ended
September
30, 2013
For the year ended September 30, 2013
(expressed in Eastern Caribbean dollars)
(expressed in Eastern Caribbean dollars)

Notes

2013
$

2012
$

9,269,291

18,054,054

7,923,886
3,111,602
2,023,381
(14,049)
(339,448)
(59,306,646)
25,570,154

1,670,986
–
2,547,374
22,009
(605,680)
(61,809,674)
25,910,105

Cash flows used in operating activities before changes in
operating assets and liabilities

(11,761,829)

(14,210,826)

Increase in other receivables and other assets
Increase in loans and advances
Increase in deposits due to customers
(Decrease)/increase in other liabilities and accrued expenses

(2,882,454)
(16,247,371)
51,789,626
(849,687)

(139,135)
(20,740,284)
55,479,858
2,569,614

Cash flows provided by operating activities before interest and
taxes

20,048,285

22,959,227

Interest received
Interest paid
Tax paid

58,393,657
(25,471,946)
(8,275,823)

59,009,573
(26,015,511)
–

Net cash flows from operating activities

44,694,173

55,953,289

Cash flows from investing activities
Redemption of investment securities
Purchase of property, plant and equipment
Proceeds from sale of property, plant and equipment
Purchase of investment securities
Purchase of short-term investments
Redemption of short-term investments

954,595
(1,768,266)
52,900
–
(1,135,000)
540,000

1,286,310
(1,296,145)
29,000
(28,750)
(11,323,500)
8,100,000

Net cash flows used in investing activities

(1,355,771)

(3,233,085)

Cash flows from financing activities
Decrease in long-term liabilities
Redemption of repurchase agreements
Dividends paid

(2,100,000)
(92,464)
(3,500,000)

(27,495,000)
(378,430)
(1,000,000)

Net cash flows used in financing activities

(5,692,464)

(28,873,430)

Cash flows from operating activities
Operating income for the year
Items not affecting cash
Provision for loan loss impairment
Provision for impairment of investment securities
Depreciation
(Gain) loss on disposal of plant, property and equipment
Increase in pension asset
Interest income
Interest expense

12
14
15

Net increase in cash
Cash and cash equivalents, beginning of year
Cash and cash equivalents, end of year
The
arean
anintegral
integralpart
partof
of these
these financial
financial statements.
statements.
Thenotes
noteson
onpages
pages351 to 101
67 are
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30

37,645,938
110,562,375

23,846,774
86,715,601

148,208,313

110,562,375

Balance, September 30, 2012

Dividends paid

5,000,000

–

–

Increase in pension reserve

Transactions with owners

–

equipment (net of tax of $12,619)

19

–

Increase in reserve for loan loss

Release of revaluation on property, plant and

–

Total comprehensive income

–

–

26

$

$

10,000,000

–

–

–

–

–

–

–

10,000,000

reserve

5,000,000

Statutory

Stated

capital

securities (net of tax of $467,322)

Decline in market value of investment

Other comprehensive income

Profit for the year

Balance, September 30, 2011

Notes

(expressed in Eastern Caribbean dollars)

For the year ended September 30, 2013

26,723,105

–

–

–

–

–

–

–

26,723,105

$

reserve

General

7,461,949

–

–

–

–

–

–

–

20,960,710

–

–

–

6,630,994

–

–

–

9,620,172

–

–

(37,855)

–

–

–

–

6,988,749

–

–

–

–

(1,473,628)

(1,473,628)

–

8,462,377

7,685,626

–

605,680

–

–

–

–

–

7,079,946

$

$
9,658,027

$

$

$

loan loss

reserve

14,329,716

reserve

for sale
securities

reserve:
property

reserve for

Capital

7,461,949

Pension

available

Revaluation

Regulatory

reserve:

Revaluation

60,093,478

(1,000,000)

(605,680)

50,474

(6,630,994)

14,637,665

–

14,637,665

53,642,013

$

earnings

Retained

154,533,789

(1,000,000)

–

12,619

–

13,164,037

(1,473,628)

14,637,665

142,357,133

$

Total

Consolidated Statement of Changes in Equity

For the year ended September 30, 2013
(expressed in Eastern Caribbean dollars)
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19

Dividends paid

36,000,000

–

31,000,000

–

10,726,756

–

–

–

–

–

–

726,756

–

–

–

–

$

reserve

General

–

–

–

–

–

–

(26,723,105)

–

–

–

–

–

26,723,105

The
pages
35aretoan101
arepart
an of
integral
part statements.
of these financial statements.
The notes
notes onon
pages
1 to 67
integral
these financial

Balance, September 30, 2013

19

Share dividend

Transactions with owners

Increase in pension reserve

–

Decrease in reserve for loan loss

26

–

equipment (net of tax of $12,303)

Release of revaluation on property, plant and

26

Release to retained earnings

–

–

25

–

–

–

Transfer to reserve fund

25

25

$

$
10,000,000

reserve

5,000,000

Statutory

Stated

capital

–

Notes

Total comprehensive income

investments to profit or loss, net of tax of $203,829

Transfer of revaluation reserve on available for sale

tax of $721,299

Decline in market value of investment securities, net of

Other comprehensive income

Profit for the year

Balance, September 30, 2012

(expressed in Eastern Caribbean dollars)

7,461,949

–

–

–

–

–

–

–

–

–

–

–

17,494,128

–

–

–

(3,466,582)

–

–

–

–

–

–

–

9,583,263

–

–

–

–

(36,909)

–

–

–

–

–

–

5,234,740

–

–

–

–

–

–

–

(1,754,009)

611,486

(2,365,495)

–

6,988,749

8,025,074

–

–

339,448

–

–

–

–

–

–

–

–

7,685,626

$

$
9,620,172

$

$

$

loan loss

reserve

20,960,710

reserve

for sale
securities

reserve:
property

reserve for

Capital

7,461,949

Pension

available

Revaluation

Regulatory

reserve:

Revaluation

62,389,111

(3,500,000)

(31,000,000)

(339,448)

3,466,582

49,212

26,723,105

(726,756)

7,622,938

–

–

7,622,938

60,093,478

$

earnings

Retained

156,915,021

(3,500,000)

–

–

–

12,303

–

–

5,868,929

611,486

(2,365,495)

7,622,938

154,533,789

$

Total

Consolidated Statement of Changes in Equity

[continued]

For the year ended September 30, 2013
(expressed in Eastern Caribbean dollars)

Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements
Antigua Commercial Bank Limited

Notes to Consolidated
Financial Statements
September
30, 2013
September
30,
2013
(expressed in Eastern Caribbean dollars)
(expressed in Eastern Caribbean dollars)

1

Nature of Operations
The principal activity of Antigua Commercial Bank Limited and its subsidiaries (the “Group”) is the provision of
commercial banking services. The Group is licensed to carry on banking business in Antigua and Barbuda and is
regulated by the Eastern Caribbean Central Bank in accordance with the Banking Act No. 14 of 2005 and the
Eastern Caribbean Central Bank Act No. 10 of 1983.

2

General information and statement of compliance with IFRS
Antigua Commercial Bank Limited, the Group’s ultimate parent company, is a limited liability company incorporated
on October 19, 1955 in Antigua and Barbuda and continued under the provisions of the Companies Act 1995 of
Antigua and Barbuda. The Group’s registered office is located at St. Mary’s and Thames Streets, St. John’s, Antigua.
The financial statements of the Group have been prepared in accordance with International Financial Reporting
Standards (IFRS) and IFRIC interpretations as issued by the International Accounting Standards Board (IASB).

3

Changes in accounting policies
3.1 New and revised standards that are effective for annual periods beginning on or after October 1, 2012
There are no IFRSs or IFRIC interpretations that are effective for the financial period beginning on or after October
1, 2012 that would be expected to have a material impact on the Group.
3.2 Standards, amendments and interpretations to existing standards that are not yet effective and have not
been adopted early by the Group
At the date of authorisation of these financial statements, certain new standards, amendments and interpretations to
existing standards have been published by the IASB but are not yet effective, and have not been adopted early by the
Group.
Management anticipates that all of the relevant pronouncements will be adopted in the Group’s accounting policies
for the first period beginning after the effective date of the pronouncement. Information on new standards,
amendments and interpretations that are expected to be relevant to the Group’s financial statements is provided
below. Certain other new standards and interpretations have been issued but are not expected to have a material
impact on the Group’s financial statements.

(1)
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Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements
Antigua Commercial Bank Limited

Notes to Consolidated
Financial Statements
September
30, 2013
September 30, 2013
(expressed in Eastern Caribbean dollars)
(expressed in Eastern Caribbean dollars)

3

Changes in accounting policies … continued
3.2 Standards, amendments and interpretations to existing standards that are not yet effective and have not
been adopted early by the Group … continued
Amendments to IAS 19 ‘Employee Benefits’ (IAS 19)
The 2011 amendments to IAS 19 made a number of changes to the accounting for employee benefits, the most
significant relating to defined benefit plans. The amendments:
• eliminate the ‘corridor method’ and requires the recognition of re-measurements (including actuarial gains and
losses) arising in the reporting period in other comprehensive income;
• change the measurement and presentation of certain components of the defined benefit cost. The net amount in
comprehensive income is affected by the removal of the expected return on plan assets and interest cost components
and their replacement by a net interest expense or income based on the net defined benefit asset or liability; and
• enhance disclosures, including more information about the characteristics of defined benefit plans and related risks.
The Group is yet to assess the full impact of the amendments but will implement the amendments no later than the
accounting period beginning October 1, 2013.
IFRS 9 ‘Financial instruments’
IFRS 9 ‘Financial instruments’ (IFRS 9), aims to replace IAS 39 ‘Financial Instruments: Recognition and
Measurement (IAS 39) in its entirety. To date, the chapters dealing with recognition, classification, measurement and
de-recognition of financial assets and liabilities and hedge accounting have been issued. The IASB is still considering
limited amendments to the classification and measurement requirements already included in IFRS 9 and are working
on finalising the new expected credit loss impairment model. It also has a separate active project on accounting for
macro hedging which it continues to work on. The January 1, 2015 mandatory effective date of IFRS 9 has been
removed to provide sufficient time for entities to make the transition to the new requirements. However, early
adoption is permitted. The IASB will decide upon a new effective date when the entire IFRS 9 project is closer to
completion. The Group’s management has yet to assess the impact of this new standard on the Group’s financial
statements. However, management does not expect to implement IFRS 9 until all of its chapters have been published
and its overall impact can be assessed.
IFRS 10 ‘Consolidated Financial Statements’
IFRS 10 supersedes IAS 27 ‘Consolidated and Separate Financial Statements’ (IAS 27) and SIC 12 ‘ConsolidationSpecial Purpose Entities’. IFRS 10 revises the definition of control and provides extensive new guidance on its
application. These new requirements have the potential to affect which of the Group’s investees are considered to be
subsidiaries and therefore to change the scope of consolidation. The requirements on consolidation procedures,
accounting for changes in non-controlling interests and accounting for loss of control of a subsidiary are unchanged.
IFRS 10 applies to annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 2013.
Management has reviewed its control assessments in accordance with IFRS 10 and has concluded that there is no
effect on the classification (as subsidiaries or otherwise) of any of the Group’s investees held during the period or
comparative periods covered by these financial statements.
IFRS 12 ‘Disclosure of Interests in Other Entities’
IFRS 12 integrates and makes consistent the disclosure requirements for various types of investments, including
unconsolidated structured entities. It introduces new disclosure requirements about the risks to which an entity is
exposed from its involvement with structured entities.

(2)
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Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements
Antigua Commercial Bank Limited

Notes to Consolidated
Financial Statements
September
30, 2013
September 30, 2013
(expressed in Eastern Caribbean dollars)
(expressed in Eastern Caribbean dollars)

3

Changes in accounting policies … continued
3.2 Standards, amendments and interpretations to existing standards that are not yet effective and have not
been adopted early by the Group … continued
IFRS 13 ‘Fair value measurements’
IFRS 13 clarifies the definition of fair value and provides related guidance and enhanced disclosures about fair value
measurements. It does not affect which items are required to be fair-valued. The scope of IFRS 13 is broad and it
applies for both financial and non-financial items for which other IFRSs require or permit fair value measurements,
or disclosures about fair value measurements except in certain circumstances. IFRS 13 applies prospectively for
annual periods beginning on or after January 1, 2013. Its disclosure requirements need not be applied to comparative
information in the first year of application. Management is in the process of reviewing its valuation methodologies
for conformity with the new requirements and has yet to complete its assessment of their impact on the Group’s
financial statements.
Offsetting financial assets and financial liabilities (Amendments to IAS 32)
The Amendments to IAS 32 add application guidance to address inconsistencies in applying IAS 32’s criteria for
offsetting financial assets and financial liabilities in the following two areas:
•
•

the meaning of ‘currently has a legally enforceable right of set-off’;
that some gross settlement systems may be considered equivalent to net settlement.

The Amendments are effective for annual periods beginning on or after January 1, 2014 and are required to be
applied retrospectively. Management does not anticipate a material impact on the Group’s financial statements from
these Amendments.
There are no other IFRSs or IFRIC interpretations that are not yet effective that would be expected to have a
material impact on the Group.

(3)
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Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements
Antigua Commercial Bank Limited

Notes to Consolidated
Financial Statements
September
30, 2013
September 30, 2013
(expressed in Eastern Caribbean dollars)
(expressed in Eastern Caribbean dollars)

4

Summary of accounting policies
4.1 Overall considerations
The financial statements have been prepared using the significant accounting policies and measurement bases
summarised below.
4.2 Cash and cash equivalents
Cash and cash equivalents consist of cash on hand, non-mandatory deposits with the ECCB and other banks,
treasury bills, and other short-term highly liquid investments with original maturities of three months or less.
4.3 Financial instruments
Recognition, initial measurement and derecognition
Financial assets and financial liabilities are recognised when the Group becomes a party to the contractual provisions
of the financial instrument and are measured initially at fair value adjusted for transaction costs. Subsequent
measurement of financial assets and financial liabilities is described below. Financial assets are derecognised when the
contractual rights to the cash flows from the financial asset expire, or when the financial asset and all substantial risks
and rewards are transferred. A financial liability is derecognised when it is extinguished, discharged, cancelled or
expires.
Classification and subsequent measurement of financial assets
For the purpose of subsequent measurement, financial assets are classified into the following categories upon initial
recognition:
• loans and receivables;
• held-to-maturity (HTM); and
• available-for-sale (AFS).
All financial assets are subject to review for impairment at least at each reporting date to identify whether there is any
objective evidence that a financial asset or a group of financial assets is impaired. Different criteria to determine
impairment are applied for each category of financial assets, which are described below. All income and expenses
relating to financial assets that are recognised in the statement of comprehensive income are presented within
interest income and interest expense, except for impairment of loans and advances which is presented separately in
the statement of comprehensive income.
(a) Loans and receivables
Loans and receivables are non-derivative financial assets with fixed or determinable payments that are not quoted in
an active market. After initial recognition, these are measured at amortised cost using the effective interest method,
less provision for impairment. Discounting is omitted where the effect of discounting is immaterial. The Group’s
cash and cash equivalents, loans and advances, and some investment securities fall into this category of financial
instruments.
(b) Held-to-maturity financial assets
HTM investments are non-derivative financial assets with fixed or determinable payments and fixed maturity other
than loans and receivables. Investments are classified as HTM if the Group has the intention and ability to hold them
until maturity. HTM investments are measured subsequently at amortised cost using the effective interest method.
The Group currently does not have investments designated into this category.
(4)
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Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements
Antigua Commercial Bank Limited

Notes to Consolidated
Financial Statements
September
30, 2013
September 30, 2013
(expressed in Eastern Caribbean dollars)
(expressed in Eastern Caribbean dollars)

4

Summary of accounting policies … continued
4.3 Financial instruments … continued
(c) Available-for-sale financial assets
AFS financial assets are non-derivative financial assets that are either designated to this category or do not qualify for
inclusion in any of the other categories of financial assets. The Group’s AFS financial assets include listed securities
and debentures, and equity investments in various entities that are measured at cost less any impairment charges,
where their fair value cannot currently be estimated reliably. Impairment charges are recognised in the statement of
comprehensive income.
All other AFS financial assets are measured at fair value. Gains and losses are recognised in other comprehensive
income and reported within the AFS reserve within equity, except for interest and dividend income, impairment
losses and foreign exchange differences on monetary assets, which are recognised in the profit or loss within the
statement of comprehensive income. When the asset is disposed of or is determined to be impaired, the cumulative
gain or loss recognised in other comprehensive income is reclassified from the equity reserve to the profit or loss
within the statement of comprehensive income. Interest is calculated using the effective interest method and
dividends are recognised in the profit or loss under other operating income within the statement of comprehensive
income.
AFS financial assets are included in non-current assets unless the investment matures or management intends to
dispose of it within 12 months of the end of the reporting period.
Impairment of financial assets
(a) Assets carried at amortised cost
The Group assesses at each reporting date whether there is objective evidence that a financial asset or group of
financial assets is impaired. A financial asset or a group of financial assets is impaired and impairment losses are
incurred if, and only if, there is objective evidence of impairment as a result of one or more events that occurred after
the initial recognition of the asset (a ‘loss event’) and that loss event (or events) has an impact on the estimated future
cash flows of the financial asset or group of financial assets that can be reliably estimated.
The criteria that the Group uses to determine that there is objective evidence of an impairment loss include:
(i)
(ii)
(iii)
(iv)
(v)
(vi)

significant financial difficulty of the issuer or obligor;
a breach of contract, such as a default or delinquency in interest or principal payments;
the Group granting to the borrower, for economic or legal reasons relating to the borrower’s financial
difficulty, a concession that the lender would not otherwise consider;
it is becoming probable that the borrower will enter bankruptcy or other financial reorganisation;
the disappearance of an active market for that financial asset because of financial difficulties; or
observable data indicating that there is a measurable decrease in the estimated future cash flows from
a group of financial assets since the initial recognition of those assets, although the decrease cannot
yet be identified with the individual financial assets in the group, including:
– adverse changes in the payment status of borrowers in the group; or
– national or local economic conditions that correlate with defaults on the assets in the portfolio.

The Group first assesses whether objective evidence of impairment exists individually for financial assets that are
individually significant, and individually or collectively for financial assets that are not individually significant. If the
Group determines that no objective evidence of impairment exists for an individually assessed financial asset,
whether significant or not, it includes the asset in a group of financial assets with similar credit risk characteristics and
collectively assesses them for impairment.
(5)
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Summary of accounting policies … continued
4.3 Financial instruments … continued
Impairment of financial assets … continued
Assets that are individually assessed for impairment and for which an impairment loss is or continues to be
recognised are not included in a collective assessment of impairment.
The amount of the loss is measured as the difference between the asset’s carrying amount and the present value of
estimated future cash flows (excluding future credit losses that have not yet been incurred) discounted at the financial
asset’s original effective interest rate. The carrying amount is then reduced to the recoverable amount as at the date
of the statement of financial position. If a loan has a variable interest rate, the discount rate for measuring any
impairment loss is the current effective interest rate determined under the contract. As a practical expedient, the
Group may measure impairment on the basis of an instrument’s fair value using an observable market price.
The calculation of the present value of the estimated future cash flows of a collateralised financial asset reflects the
cash flows that may result from foreclosure less costs for obtaining and selling the collateral, whether or not
foreclosure is probable.
For the purposes of a collective evaluation of impairment, financial assets are grouped on the basis of similar credit
risk characteristics (i.e. on the basis of the Group’s grading process that considers asset type, industry, geographical
location, collateral type, past-due status and other relevant factors). Those characteristics are relevant to the
estimation of future cash flows for groups of such assets by being indicative of the debtors’ ability to pay all amounts
due according to the contractual terms of the assets being evaluated.
Future cash flows in a group of financial assets that are collectively evaluated for impairment are estimated on the
basis of the contractual cash flows of the assets in the group and historical loss experience for assets with credit risk
characteristics similar to those in the group. Historical loss experience is adjusted on the basis of current observable
data to reflect the effects of current conditions that did not affect the period on which the historical loss experience
is based and to remove the effects of conditions in the historical period that do not currently exist.
Estimates of changes in future cash flows for groups of assets should reflect and be directionally consistent with
changes in related observable data from period to period (for example, changes in unemployment rates, property
prices, payment status, or other factors indicative of changes in the probability of losses in the group and their
magnitude). The methodology and assumptions used for estimating future cash flows are reviewed regularly by the
Group to reduce any differences between loss estimates and actual loss experience.
When a loan is uncollectible, it is written off against the related allowance for loan impairment. Such loans are written
off after all the necessary procedures have been completed and the amount of the loss has been determined.
Impairment charges relating to loans and advances to banks and customers are classified in loan impairment charges
whilst impairment charges relating to investment securities (held to maturity and loans and receivables categories) are
classified in ‘provision for impairment of investment securities’.
If, in a subsequent period, the amount of the impairment loss decreases and the decrease can be related objectively to
an event occurring after the impairment was recognised (such as an improvement in the debtor’s credit rating), the
previously recognised impairment loss is reversed by adjusting the allowance account. The amount of the reversal is
recognised in the statement of comprehensive income.
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Summary of accounting policies … continued
4.3 Financial instruments … continued
Impairment of financial assets … continued
(b) Assets classified as available-for-sale
The Group assesses at each reporting date whether there is objective evidence that a financial asset or a group of
financial assets is impaired. In the case of equity investments classified as available-for-sale, a significant or prolonged
decline in the fair value of the security below its cost is objective evidence of impairment resulting in the recognition
of an impairment loss.
Where an available-for-sale security is unquoted, objective evidence of impairment is identified if there are significant
financial difficulties of the issuer and if there is a prolonged decline in the reported share value of the issuer when
compared to the carrying value of the security in the Group’s financial statements.
If any such evidence exists for available-for-sale financial assets, the cumulative loss – measured as the difference
between the acquisition cost and the current fair value, less any impairment loss on that financial asset previously
recognised in the statement of comprehensive income – is removed from equity and recognised in the statement of
comprehensive income. Impairment losses recognised in the statement of comprehensive income on equity
instruments are not reversed through operating profit within the statement of comprehensive income. Any
subsequent changes in fair value are recognised in other comprehensive income.
If, in a subsequent period, the fair value of a debt instrument classified as available-for-sale increases and the increase
can be objectively related to an event occurring after the impairment loss was recognised in the statement of
comprehensive income, the impairment loss is reversed through operating profit within the statement of
comprehensive income.
(c) Renegotiated Loans
Loans that are either subject to collective impairment assessment or individually significant and whose terms have
been renegotiated are no longer considered to be past due, but are treated as new loans. In subsequent years, the
asset is considered to be past due and disclosed only if renegotiated again.
Classification and subsequent measurement of financial liabilities
The Group’s financial liabilities include deposits due to customers, borrowings, and other liabilities and accrued
expenses. Financial liabilities are measured subsequently at amortised cost using the effective interest method. All
interest-related charges are included within interest expense in the statement of comprehensive income.
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Summary of accounting policies … continued
4.3 Financial instruments … continued
Classes of financial instruments
The Group classifies its financial instruments into classes that reflect the nature of the information and take into
account the characteristics of those financial instruments. The classification made can be seen in the table below:

Due from banks and other financial
institutions

Loans and
advances to
individuals
Loans and
receivables
Financial
assets

Loans and
advances to
customers
Loans and
advances to
corporate entities

Investment
securities

Loans and
advances to
government and
statutory bodies
Treasury bills
Debt instruments

Deposits with the
Central Bank
Correspondent
bank accounts
Fixed deposits
Demand loans
Mortgage loans
Bridging Loans
CHAPA Loans
Non-performing
loans and advances
Rebate Loans
Overdrafts
Credit Card
advances
Demand Loans
Mortgage loans
Bridging Loans
Non -performing
loans and advances
Overdrafts
Demand Loans
Mortgage loans
Overdrafts
Local treasury bills
Quoted
Unquoted

Other assets
Available-for-sale
financial assets
Financial
liabilities

Amortised cost

Investment
securities

Debt instruments
Equity securities

Quoted
Unquoted
Quoted
Unquoted

Deposits due to customers
Other liabilities and accrued expenses
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Summary of accounting policies … continued
4.3 Financial instruments … continued
Offsetting financial instruments
Financial assets and liabilities are offset and the net amount reported in the statement of financial position when
there is a legally enforceable right to offset the recognised amounts and there is an intention to settle on a net basis,
or realise the asset and settle the liability simultaneously.
4.4 Provisions, contingent assets and contingent liabilities
Provisions for legal disputes or other claims are recognised when the Group has a present legal or constructive
obligation as a result of a past event, it is probable that an outflow of economic resources will be required from the
Group and amounts can be estimated reliably. Timing or amount of the outflow may still be uncertain.
Provisions are not recognised for future operating losses. Provisions are measured at the estimated expenditure
required to settle the present obligation, based on the most reliable evidence available at the reporting date, including
the risks and uncertainties associated with the present obligation. Where there are a number of similar obligations,
the likelihood that an outflow will be required in settlement is determined by considering the class of obligations as a
whole. Provisions are discounted to their present values, where the time value of money is material.
Any reimbursement that the Group can be virtually certain to collect from a third party with respect to the obligation
is recognised as a separate asset. However, this asset may not exceed the amount of the related provision. In those
cases where the possible outflow of economic resources as a result of present obligations is considered improbable
or remote, no liability is recognised.
4.5 Property, plant and equipment and depreciation
Property, plant and equipment are stated at historical cost or revalued amount, less accumulated depreciation.
Depreciation is calculated on the straight-line method at rates estimated to write down the cost or valuation of such
assets to their residual values over their estimated useful lives as follows:
Buildings
ATM buildings and building improvements
Car park
Furniture and fixtures
Equipment
Motor vehicles
Computer hardware
Computer software

40 years
10 years
10 years
6 2/3 years
10 years
5 years
5 years
3 years

Subsequent costs are included in the asset’s carrying amount or are recognised as a separate asset, as appropriate, only
when it is probable that future economic benefits associated with the item will flow to the group and the cost of the
item can be measured reliably. Repairs and renewals are charged to the statement of comprehensive income when the
expenditure is incurred.
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Summary of accounting policies … continued
4.5 Property, plant and equipment and depreciation… continued
The assets’ residual values and useful lives are reviewed, and adjusted if appropriate at each reporting date. Property,
plant and equipment are periodically reviewed for impairment whenever events or changes in circumstances indicate
that the carrying amount may not be recoverable.
An asset’s carrying amount is written down immediately to its recoverable amount if the asset’s carrying amount is
greater than its estimated recoverable amount. The recoverable amount is the higher of the asset’s fair value less
costs to sell and value in use.
Gains and losses on the disposal of property, plant and equipment are determined by reference to their carrying
amount and are recognised within ‘other operating income’ in the statement of comprehensive income.
Revaluations of property, plant and equipment are carried out every 3 to 5 years based on independent valuations.
4.6 Current and deferred income taxes
Tax expense recognised in the profit or loss comprises the sum of deferred tax and current tax not recognised in
other comprehensive income or directly in equity.
Current income tax assets and/or liabilities comprise those obligations to, or claims from, fiscal authorities relating to
the current or prior reporting periods, that are unpaid at the reporting date. Current tax is payable on taxable profit,
which differs from profit or loss in the financial statements. Calculation of current tax is based on tax rates and tax
laws that have been enacted or substantively enacted by the end of the reporting period in Antigua and Barbuda.
Deferred income taxes are calculated using the liability method on temporary differences between the carrying
amounts of assets and liabilities and their tax bases.
Deferred tax assets and liabilities are calculated, without discounting, at tax rates that are expected to apply to their
respective period of realisation, provided those rates are enacted or substantively enacted by the end of the reporting
period.
Deferred tax assets are recognised to the extent that it is probable that the underlying tax loss or deductible
temporary difference will be able to be utilised against future taxable income. This is assessed based on the Group’s
forecast of future operating results, adjusted for significant non-taxable income and expenses and specific limits on
the use of any unused tax loss or credit.
Deferred tax assets and liabilities are offset only when the Group has a right and intention to set off current tax
assets and liabilities from the same taxation authority.
Changes in deferred tax assets or liabilities are recognised as a component of tax credit or charge in the profit or loss
within the statement of comprehensive income, except where they relate to items that are recognised in other
comprehensive income (such as the revaluation of land) or directly in equity, in which case the related deferred tax is
also recognised in other comprehensive income or equity, respectively.
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Summary of accounting policies … continued
4.7 Dividends on ordinary shares and dividend income
Dividends on ordinary shares are recognised in equity in the period in which they are approved by shareholders.
Dividends for the year which are approved after the reporting date are disclosed as an event after the reporting date
(note 19).
Dividend income is recognised in the statement of comprehensive income when the entity’s right to receive payment
is established.
4.8 Interest income and expense and revenue recognition
Interest income and expense for all interest-bearing financial instruments are recognised within ‘interest income’ and
‘interest expense’ in the statement of comprehensive income using the effective interest method.
The effective interest method is a method of calculating the amortised cost of a financial asset or a financial liability
and of allocating the interest income or interest expense over the relevant period. The effective interest rate is the
rate that exactly discounts estimated future cash payments or receipts through the expected life of the financial
instrument or, when appropriate, a shorter period to the net carrying amount of the financial asset or financial
liability. When calculating the effective interest rate, the Group estimates cash flows considering all contractual terms
of the financial instrument (for example, prepayment options) but does not consider future credit losses. The
calculation includes all fees paid or received between parties to the contract that are an integral part of the effective
interest rate, transaction costs and all other premiums or discounts.
Once a financial asset or a group of similar financial assets has been written down as a result of an impairment loss,
interest income is recognised using the rate of interest used to discount the future cash flows for the purpose of
measuring the impairment loss.
4.9 Fee and commission income and revenue recognition
Fees and commissions are generally recognised on the accrual basis when the service has been provided. Loan
origination fees are deferred (together with related direct costs) and recognised as an adjustment to the effective yield
on the loan.
Commission and fees arising from negotiating or participating in the negotiation of a transaction for a third party,
such as the acquisition of shares or other securities are recognised on completion of the underlying transaction.
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Summary of accounting policies … continued
4.10 Foreign currency translation
Functional and presentation currency
The financial statements are presented in Eastern Caribbean Dollars, which is also the functional currency of the
Group.
Foreign currency transactions and balances
Foreign currency transactions are translated into Eastern Caribbean Dollars using the closing rates of exchange
prevailing at the dates of the transactions. Foreign exchange gains and losses resulting from the settlement of such
transactions and from the re-measurement of monetary items denominated in foreign currency at year-end exchange
rates are recognised in the statement of comprehensive income.
Non-monetary items are not retranslated at year-end and are measured at historical cost (translated using the
exchange rates at the transaction date), except for non-monetary items measured at fair value which are translated
using the exchange rates at the date when fair value was determined.
4.11 Post-employment benefits
The Group provides post-employment benefits through a defined benefit plan. Under this plan, the amount of
pension benefit that an employee will receive on retirement is defined by reference to the employee’s length of
service and final salary. The obligation for any benefits remains with the Group, even if plan assets for funding the
defined benefit plan have been set aside. Plan assets may include assets specifically designated to a long-term benefit
fund as well as qualifying insurance policies.
The liability recognised in the statement of financial position for defined benefit plan is the present value of the
defined benefit obligation (DBO) at the reporting date less the fair value of plan assets, together with adjustments for
unrecognised actuarial gains or losses and past service costs. Management estimates the DBO annually with the
assistance of independent actuaries. This is based on standard rates of inflation, medical cost trends and mortality. It
also takes into account the Group’s specific anticipation of future salary increases. Discount factors are determined
close to each year-end by reference to government bonds that are denominated in the currency in which the benefits
will be paid and that have terms to maturity approximating to the terms of the related pension liability.
Actuarial gains and losses are not recognised as an expense unless the total unrecognised gain or loss exceeds 10% of
the greater of the obligation and related plan assets. The amount exceeding this 10% corridor is charged or credited
to profit or loss over the employees’ expected average remaining working lives. Actuarial gains and losses within the
10% corridor are disclosed separately. Past service costs are recognised immediately in the statement of
comprehensive income, unless the changes to the pension plan are conditional on the employees remaining in service
for a specified period of time (the vesting period). In this case, the past service costs are amortised on a straight-line
basis over the vesting period.
Interest expense related to pension obligations is included as part of salaries and related costs under ‘general and
administrative expenses’ in the statement of comprehensive income.
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Summary of accounting policies … continued
4.12 Leases
Leases in which a significant portion of the risks and rewards of ownership are retained by the lessor are classified as
operating leases. All of the Group’s leases are treated as operating leases and the Group is a lessee. All payments on
operating lease agreements are recognised as an expense on a straight-line basis over the lease term. Associated costs,
such as maintenance and insurance, are expensed as incurred.

4.13 Repurchase agreements

Securities sold subject to repurchase agreements are included in loans and receivables. These securities are not
secured by collateral. The counterparty liability is included in ‘due under repurchase agreements’ and is recorded at
amortised cost. The difference between sale and repurchase price is treated as interest and accrued over the life of
the agreements using the effective interest method.
4.14 Impairment of non-financial assets
All individual assets or cash-generating units are tested for impairment whenever events or changes in circumstances
indicate that the carrying amount may not be recoverable.
An impairment loss is recognised for the amount by which the asset’s or cash-generating unit’s carrying amount
exceeds its recoverable amount, which is the higher of fair value less costs of disposal and value-in-use. To determine
the value-in-use, management estimates expected future cash flows from each cash-generating unit and determines a
suitable interest rate in order to calculate the present value of those cash flows. Discount factors are determined
individually for each cash-generating unit and reflect management’s assessment of respective risk profiles, such as
market and asset-specific risks factors.
All assets are subsequently reassessed for indications that an impairment loss previously recognised may no longer
exist. An impairment loss is reversed if the asset’s or cash-generating unit’s recoverable amount exceeds its carrying
amount.
4.15 Other liabilities
Trade payables are obligations to pay for goods or services that have been acquired in the ordinary course of business
from suppliers. Trade payables are classified as current liabilities if payment is due within one year or less. If not, they
are presented as non-current liabilities. Trade payables are recognised initially at fair value and subsequently measured
at amortised cost using the effective interest method.
4.16 Operating expenses
Operating expenses are recognised in the statement of comprehensive income upon utilisation of the service or at the
date of their origin.
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4 Summary of accounting policies … continued
4.17 Equity and reserves
Stated capital represents the issue price multiplied by the number of shares that have been issued. Any transaction
costs associated with the issuing of shares are shown in equity as a deduction, net of any related income tax benefits.
Other components of equity include the following:
•
Regulatory reserve for loan loss – additional provision as required by the Eastern Caribbean Central Bank
•
Pension reserve – comprises a reserve equivalent to the calculated pension plan asset
•
Revaluation reserve - property – comprises gains and losses from the revaluation of land
•
Revaluation reserve for AFS financial assets – comprises unrealised gains and losses relating to these types of
financial instruments
•
Retained earnings comprises all current and prior period retained profits or losses.
See note 26 for details on each component of equity.

5

Financial instruments risk
The Group’s activities expose it to a variety of financial risks and those activities involve the analysis, evaluation,
acceptance and management of some degree of risk or combination of risks. Taking risk is core to the financial
business, and the operational risks are an inevitable consequence of being in business. The Group’s overall risk
management programme focuses on the unpredictability of financial markets and seeks to achieve an appropriate
balance between risk and return and minimise potential adverse effects on the Group’s financial performance.
The Group’s risk management policies are designed to identify and analyse these risks, to set appropriate risk limits
and controls, and to monitor the risks and adherence to limits by means of reliable and up-to-date information
systems. The Group regularly reviews its risk management policies and systems to reflect changes in markets,
products and emerging best practice.
Risk management is carried out by the Group’s Asset and Liability Management Committee (ALCO) and Investment
Committee under policies approved by the Board of Directors. The ALCO and Investment Committee identify,
evaluate and manage financial risks in close co-operation with the Group’s operating departments. The Board
provides guidance for overall risk management, as well as written policies covering specific areas, such as foreign
exchange risk, interest rate risk and credit risk. In addition, internal audit is responsible for the independent review
of risk management and the control environment. The risk arising from financial instruments to which the Group is
exposed are credit risk, liquidity risk, market risk (which are discussed below) and other operational risk.

5.1 Credit risk
Credit risk is the risk of suffering financial loss, should any of the Group’s customers, clients or market
counterparties fail to fulfil their contractual obligations to the Group. Credit risk arises mainly from commercial and
consumer loans and advances, credit cards, and loan commitments arising from such lending activities, but can also
arise from credit enhancement provided, such as financial guarantees and letters of credit. The Group is also exposed
to other credit risks arising from investments in debt securities.
Credit risk is the single largest risk for the Group’s business; management therefore carefully manages its exposure to
credit risk. The credit risk management and control including risk on debt securities, cash, loans and advances, credit
cards and loan commitments are monitored by the ALCO and Investment Committee, which reports to the Board of
Directors regularly. Cash deposits with other banks and short-term investments are placed with reputable regional
and international financial institutions and Governments.
(14)
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Financial instruments risk ... continued

5.1.1 Credit risk management
(a)

Loans and advances
The Group assesses the probability of default of individual counterparties using internal rating tools tailored to
the various categories of the counterparty. These have been developed based on the Eastern Caribbean
Central Bank guidelines. Customers of the Group are segmented into five rating classes. The Group’s rating
scale, which is shown below, reflects the range of default probabilities defined for each rating class. This means
that, in principle, exposures migrate between classes as the assessment of their probability of default changes.
The ratings tool is reviewed and upgraded as necessary.
Group’s rating
1
2
3
4
5

Description of the grade
Pass
Special mention
Sub-standard
Doubtful
Loss

(b)

Debt securities and other bills
The Group’s portfolio of debt securities and other bills consists of St. Kitts and Nevis Government, St. Lucia
Government, Grenada Government and Antigua and Barbuda Government treasury bills, and other debt
obligations by regional banking and non-banking financial institutions, all of which are unrated. The Group
assesses the risk of default on these obligations by regularly monitoring the performance of the Governments
through published government data, information received directly from government departments and
information published by international agencies such as the International Monetary Fund (IMF) and the World
Bank. The risk of default on regional corporate debt is assessed by continuous monitoring of the performance
of these companies through published financial information, and other data gleaned from various sources.

(c)

Credit card receivables
The risk related to the Group’s credit card portfolio is significantly covered by the interest charged to
customers at a rate of 19.5% per annum. Historically, the risk of loss has been on average less than 1% per
annum over the past six years. The portfolio is closely monitored by a third party and the Group on a daily
basis to minimize the risk of default.
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Financial instruments risk ... continued

5.1.2 Risk limit control and mitigation policies
The Group manages, limits and controls concentrations of credit risk wherever they are identified, in particular to
individual counterparties and groups, and to industries.
The Group structures the levels of credit risk it undertakes by placing limits on the amount of risk accepted in
relation to one borrower, or groups of borrowers and industry segments. Such risk are monitored on a revolving
basis and subject to an annual or more frequent review by the Board of Directors.
The exposure to any one borrower, including banks and brokers is further restricted by sub-limits covering on and
off balance sheet exposure. Actual exposures against limits are monitored on an ongoing basis.
Exposure to credit risk is also managed through regular analysis of the ability of borrowers and potential borrowers
to meet interest and capital repayment obligations and by changing these lending limits where appropriate.
Exposure to credit risk is also managed in part by obtaining collateral and corporate and personal guarantees.
Lending limits are reviewed in light of changing market and economic conditions and periodic credit reviews and
assessments of probability of default.
The following specific control and mitigation measures are also utilised:
(a)

Collateral
The Group employs a range of policies and practices to mitigate credit risk. The most traditional of these is the
taking of security for funds advanced, which is common practice. The Group implements guidelines on the
acceptability of specific classes of collateral or credit risk mitigation. The principal collateral types for loans and
advances are:
•
•
•
•

Mortgages over residential properties.
Charges over business assets such as premises, inventory and accounts receivable.
Charges over financial instruments such as cash and short-term deposits.
Government and personal guarantees.

Longer-term finance and lending to corporate entities are generally secured; revolving individual credit
facilities are generally unsecured. In addition, in order to minimise the credit loss the Group will seek
additional collateral from the counterparty as soon as impairment indicators are identified for the relevant
individual loans and advances.
Collateral held as security for financial assets other than loans and advances depends on the nature of the
instrument. Debt securities, treasury and other eligible bills are generally unsecured.
(b)

Financial guarantees (for credit related commitments and loan books)
The primary purpose of these instruments is to ensure that funds are available to a customer as required.
Guarantees and standby letters of credit carry the same credit risk as loans. Documentary and commercial
letters of credit – which are written undertakings by the Group on behalf of a customer authorising a third
party to draw drafts on the Group up to a stipulated amount under specific terms and conditions – are
collateralised by the underlying shipments of goods to which they relate and therefore carry less risk than a
direct loan.
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5

Financial instruments risk ... continued

5.1.2 Risk limit control and mitigation policies ... continued
Commitments to extend credit represent unused portions of authorisations to extend credit in the form of loans,
guarantees or letters of credit. With respect to credit risk on commitments to extend credit, the Group is potentially
exposed to loss in an amount equal to the total unused commitments. However, the likely amount of loss is less
than the total unused commitments, as most commitments to extend credit are contingent upon customers
maintaining specific credit standards (often referred to as financial covenants).
The Group monitors the term to maturity of credit commitments because longer-term commitments generally have
a greater degree of credit risk than shorter-term commitments.
5.1.3 Impairment and provisioning policies
The internal rating systems described in Note 5.1.1 focus more on credit quality mapping from the inception of the
lending and investment activities. In contrast, impairment provisions are recognised for financial reporting
purposes only for losses that have been incurred at the reporting date based on the objective evidence of
impairment. Due to the different methodologies applied, the amount of incurred credit losses provided for in the
financial statements is usually lower than the amount determined from the expected loss model that is used for
internal operational management and banking regulation purposes.
The loan impairment provision shown in the statement of financial position at year end is derived from each of the
five rating grades. However, the majority of the impairment provision comes from the substandard, doubtful and
loss grades. The table below shows the percentage of the Group’s on- and off- balance sheet items relating to loans
and advances and the associated impairment provision for each of the Group’s internal rating categories:
2013

2012

Group's rating

Credit risk
exposure
(%)

Impairment
allowance
(%)

Credit risk
exposure
(%)

Impairment
allowance
(%)

Pass
Special mention
Sub standard
Doubtful
Loss

51
33
13
1
2

1
4
36
13
46

44
41
12
2
1

7
9
43
19
22

100

100

100

100

Total

The mortgage subsidiary company has had, on average, 81% of its loan portfolio at a pass rating for the financial
year ended September 30, 2013 (2012 – 77%).
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5

Financial instruments risk ... continued

5.1.3 Impairment and provisioning policies … continued
The internal rating tool assists management to determine whether objective evidence of impairment exists under
IAS 39, based on the following criteria set out by the Group:
•
•
•
•
•
•

Delinquency in contractual payments of principal or interest
Cash flow difficulties experienced by the borrower (eg. Equity ratio, net income percentage of sales)
Breach of loan covenants or conditions
Initiation of bankruptcy proceedings
Deterioration of the borrower’s competitive position
Deterioration in the value of collateral

The Group’s policy requires the review of individual financial assets that are above materiality thresholds at least
annually or more regularly when individual circumstances require. Impairment allowances on individually assessed
accounts are determined by an evaluation of the incurred loss at the reporting date on a case by case basis, and are
applied to all individually significant accounts. The assessment normally encompasses collateral held (including reconfirmation of its enforceability) and the anticipated receipts for that individual account.
5.1.4 Maximum exposure to credit risk before collateral held or other credit enhancements:
Maximum exposure
2013
$
Credit risk exposures relating to on-balance sheet assets
Due from other banks
Treasury bills
Statutory deposits
Loans and advances
Loans and advances to individuals:
Overdrafts
Term loans
Mortgages
Loans and advances to corporate entities
Investment securities
Loans and receivables – debt securities
Other assets

Credit risk exposures relating to off-balance sheet assets
Financial guarantees
Loan commitments and other credit related obligations

At September 30

2012
$

128,041,731
55,629,782
5,451,569

110,512,220
45,544,289
5,451,569

1,365,008
37,920,885
187,853,289

3,316,993
42,564,861
184,684,432

385,164,518

373,094,143

42,840,076
2,461,133

45,708,085
2,300,899

846,727,991

813,177,491

7,008,444
30,756,068

7,555,795
4,896,295

37,764,512

12,452,090

884,492,503

825,629,581
(18)
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Financial instruments risk ... continued

5.1.4 Maximum exposure to credit risk before collateral held or other credit enhancements … continued
The above table represents a worse-case scenario of credit risk exposure to the Group at September 30, 2013 and
2012, without taking account of any collateral held or other credit enhancements attached. For on-balance sheet
assets, the exposures set out above are based on net carrying amounts as reported in the consolidated statement of
financial position.
As shown above, 72% of the total maximum exposure is derived from loans and advances to customers (2012:
74%); and 5% represents investments in debt securities (2012: 7%).
Management is confident in its ability to continue to control and sustain minimal exposure of credit risk to the
Group resulting from both its loan and advances portfolio and debt securities based on the following:
•

Business loans, which represents the biggest group in the portfolio, are backed by collateral; and

•

65% of loans and advances portfolio are considered to be neither past due nor impaired (2012: 70%).

(19)
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Financial instruments risk ... continued

5.1.5 Loans and advances
Loans and advances are summarised as follows:
2013
Loans and
advances to
customers
$

2012
Loans and
advances to
customers
$

Neither past due nor impaired
Past due but not impaired
Individually impaired

404,551,646
172,587,332
42,806,578

424,689,245
154,694,178
26,440,373

Gross

619,945,556

605,823,796

Interest receivable
Deferred interest income
Deferred fees

19,455,374
(3,266,775)
(2,150,297)

19,135,588
(3,308,117)
(1,922,482)

Less: allowance for impairment

(21,680,158)

(16,068,356)

Net

612,303,700

603,660,429

17,918,088
3,762,070

11,728,905
4,339,451

21,680,158

16,068,356

Allowance for impairment:
Individually impaired
Portfolio allowance

The total impairment provision for loans and advances is $21,680,158 (2012: $16,068,356) of which $17,918,088
(2012: $11,728,905) represents the individually impaired loans and the remaining amount of $3,762,070 (2012:
$4,339,451) represents the portfolio allowance. Further information about the impairment allowance for loans and
advances to banks and to customers is provided in note 11.

(20)
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Financial instruments risk ... continued

5.1.5 Loans and advances … continued
(a)

Loans and advances neither past due nor impaired

The credit quality of the portfolio of loans and advances that were neither past due nor impaired can be assessed by
reference to the internal rating system adopted by the Group.
Loans and advances to customers
Individual (retail customers)
Overdrafts
$

Term
Loans
$

Mortgages
$

Corporate entities
Large
Total loans
corporate
and advances
customers
SMEs to customers
$
$
$

September 30, 2013
Grades
Standard monitoring
Special monitoring

46,912,465
15,009,321

24,325,015 116,184,830
1,294,602
140,043

191,325,845
–

8,960,524
399,001

387,708,679
16,842,967

61,921,786

25,619,617 116,324,873

191,325,845

9,359,525

404,551,646

27,176,183
26,206,907

40,441,329 111,568,276
4,294,272
1,377,426

126,462,589
69,875,727

8,794,461
8,492,075

314,442,838
110,246,407

53,383,090

44,735,601 112,945,702

196,338,316

17,286,536

424,689,245

September 30, 2012
Grades
Standard monitoring
Special monitoring

(21)

ADAPTING TO CHANGING TIMES [55]

Financial instruments risk ... continued

Loans and advances past due but not impaired
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–
–
–
3,663,323

3,663,323

Past due up to 30 days
Past due 31 – 60 days
Past due 61 – 90 days
Past due 90 days and over

Total

Overdrafts
$

Individual (retail customers)

4,145,424

30,549
2,355,406
16,724
1,742,745

Term loans
$

78,590,966

36,085,178
17,305,837
12,511,577
12,688,374

Mortgages
$

73,137,232

As of September 30, 2012:

10,079,887

–

37,250,286
11,212,993
13,858,145
10,815,808

Mortgages
$

Total

4,450,438
2,245,427
1,639,611
1,744,411

Term loans
$

–
–
–
–

Overdrafts
$

Individual (retail customers)

Past due up to 30 days
Past due 31 – 60 days
Past due 61 – 90 days
Past due 90 days and over

As of September 30, 2013:

6,954,434

2,040,140
599,399
1,150,216
3,164,679

60,672,593

12,464,010
–
21,648,494
26,560,089

7,621,872

–
566,334
489,578
6,565,960

Corporate entities
Large
corporate
customers
SMEs
$
$

82,415,779

16,343,821
17,977,588
3,839,303
44,255,067

Corporate entities
Large
corporate
customers
SMEs
$
$

154,694,178

48,579,737
20,227,577
34,666,373
51,220,491

Total
$

172,587,332

60,084,685
32,035,407
20,487,275
59,979,965

Total
$

(22)

Late processing and other administrative delays on the side of the borrower can lead to a financial asset being past due but not impaired. Therefore, loans and
advances less than 90 days past due are not usually considered impaired, unless other information is available to indicate the contrary. The gross amounts of loans
and advances by class to customers that were past due but not impaired were as follows:

(b)

5.1.5 Loans and advances … continued

5

(expressed in Eastern Caribbean dollars)

September 30, 2013

Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements

September 30, 2013
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Financial instruments risk ... continued

566,834

Allowance for impairment

4,181,877

2,868,636

Gross amount

Allowance for impairment

September 30, 2012

573,054

September 30, 2013
Gross amount

Overdrafts
$

1,223,039

1,412,311

1,223,039

1,410,680

677,650

1,957,182

1,359,981

2,824,794

Credit
card Term loans
$
$

Individual (retail customers)

37,228

1,627,252

470,516

2,732,790

Mortgages
$

4,742,243

12,587,068

12,438,432

27,976,199

Large
corporate
customers
$

2,180,109

4,674,683

1,859,286

7,289,061

SMEs
$

Corporate entities

The breakdown of the gross amount of individually impaired loans and advances by class is as follows:

11,728,905

26,440,373

17,918,088

42,806,578

Total
$

The individually impaired loans and advances to customers before taking into consideration the cash flows from collateral held is $42,806,578 (2012:
$26,440,373).

(c) Loans and advances individually impaired

5.1.5 Loans and advances … continued

5

(expressed in Eastern Caribbean dollars)

September 30, 2013
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Financial instruments risk ... continued

5.1.5 Loans and advances … continued
(d) Loans and advances renegotiated
Restructuring activities include extended payment arrangements, approved external management plans,
modification and deferral of payments. Following restructuring, a previously overdue account is reset to a
normal status and managed together with other similar accounts. Restructuring policies and practices are
based on indicators or criteria which, in the judgement of management, indicate that payment will most likely
continue. These policies are kept under continuous review.

Renegotiated loans and advances to individuals
Renegotiated loans to corporations

2013
$

2012
$

12,470,353
13,809,537

10,833,742
11,403,551

26,279,890

22,237,293

5.1.6 Debt securities, treasury bills and other eligible bills
There is no formal rating of the credit quality of bonds, treasury bills and equity investments. A number of
qualitative and quantitative factors are considered in assessing the risk associated with each investment. However,
there is no hierarchy of ranking. There are no external ratings of securities at the year end. The tables below
presents an analysis of debt securities, treasury bills and other eligible bills at September 30, 2013 and 2012:
Asset
pledged as
collateral
Treasury
bills
$

Availablefor-sale
$

Loans and
receivables
$

Total
$

Investment
securities
$

At September 30, 2013
Unrated

55,629,782

20,156,876

42,840,076

118,626,734

4,000,000

At September 30, 2012
Unrated

45,544,289

23,649,922

45,708,085

114,902,296

3,000,000

See note 14 for provision for impairment of investment securities.
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Financial instruments risk ... continued

5.1.7 Concentration of risks of financial assets with credit risk exposure
(a)

Geographical concentration of assets and off balance sheet items

The Group’s exposure to credit risk is concentrated as detailed below. Antigua and Barbuda is the home country
of the Group where the predominant activity is commercial banking services.
As a major indigenous bank in Antigua and Barbuda, the Group accounts for a significant share of credit exposure
to many sectors of the economy. However, credit risk is spread over a diversity of personal and commercial
customers.
The following table analyses the Group’s main credit exposure at their carrying amounts, without taking into
account any collateral held or other credit support as categorised by geographical region. For all classes of assets,
the Group has allocated exposure to regions based on the country of domicile of the counterparties.
Antigua and
Barbuda
$
Credit risk exposures
relating to on-balance
sheet assets:
Due from other banks
Statutory deposits
Treasury bills
Loans and receivables
– Debt securities
Loans and advances
Other assets

Other
Caribbean
$

NonCaribbean
$

Total
$

105,936,891
5,451,569
7,675,764

9,595,300
–
47,954,018

12,509,540
–
–

128,041,731
5,451,569
55,629,782

42,570,683
606,495,495
2,461,133

–
2,661,644
–

269,393
3,146,561
–

42,840,076
612,303,700
2,461,133

770,591,535

60,210,962

15,925,494

846,727,991

Credit risk exposures
relating to off balance
sheet assets:
Loan commitments and
other credit related facilities

37,764,512

–

–

37,764,512

As of September 30, 2013

808,356,047

60,210,962

15,925,494

884,492,503
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Financial instruments risk ... continued

5.1.7 Concentration of risks of financial assets with credit risk exposure…continued
(a)

Geographical concentration of assets and off balance sheet items … continued
Antigua and
Barbuda
$

Credit risk exposures
relating to on-balance
sheet assets:
Due from other banks
Statutory deposits
Treasury bills
Loans and receivables
– Debt securities
Loans and advances
Other assets

Other
Caribbean
$

NonCaribbean
$

Total
$

88,359,454
5,451,569
7,448,264

9,335,132
–
38,096,025

12,817,634
–
–

110,512,220
5,451,569
45,544,289

43,641,618
597,083,779
2,300,899

1,796,287
3,130,750
–

270,180
3,445,900
–

45,708,085
603,660,429
2,300,899

744,285,583

52,358,194

16,533,714

813,177,491

Credit risk exposures
relating to off balance
sheet assets:
Loan commitments and
other credit related facilities

12,452,090

–

–

12,452,090

As of September 30, 2012

756,737,673

52,358,194

16,533,714

825,629,581
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As at September 30, 2013

Investment securities:
- Debt securities
Other assets

Loans to corporate entities:
- Large corporate customers

Loans and advances to customers:
Loans to individuals:
- Overdrafts
- Term loans
- Mortgages

Due from other banks
Statutory deposits
Treasury bills

–
–
20,134

129,156

20,134

–
–

1,114

–
–
–

–
–
–

128,042
–
–

–
–
–

Tourism
$’000

Financial
institutions
$’000

42,094

–
–

42,094

–
–
–

–
–
–

Real
estate
$’000

100,965

–
–

100,965

–
–
–

–
–
–

Wholesale
and retail
trade
$’000

180,640

–
–

106,964

–
–
12,594

–
5,452
55,630

Public
sector
$’000

191,579

42,840
2,461

113,893

–
–
32,385

–
–
–

Other
industries
$’000

182,160

–
–

–

1,365
37,921
142,874

–
–
–

Individuals
$’000

(27)

846,728

42,840
2,461

385,164

1,365
37,921
187,853

128,042
5,452
55,630

Total
$’000

The following table breaks down the Group’s credit exposure at carrying amounts (without taking into account any collateral held or other credit support), as
categorised by the industry sectors of the Group’s counterparties.

(b) Industry risk concentration of assets and off balance sheet items

5.1.7 Concentration of risks of financial assets with credit risk exposure…continued

5

(expressed in Eastern Caribbean dollars)
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(expressed in Eastern Caribbean dollars)
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As at September 30, 2012

Investment securities:
- Debt securities
Other assets

Loans to corporate entities:
- Large corporate customers

Loans and advances to customers:
Loans to individuals:
- Overdrafts
- Term loans
- Mortgages

Due from other banks
Statutory deposits
Treasury bills

–
–
9,718

112,861

9,718

–
–

2,349

–
–
–

–
–
–

110,512
–
–

–
–
–

Tourism
$’000

Financial
institutions
$’000

(b) Industry risk concentration of assets and off balance sheet items … continued

5.1.7 Concentration of risks of financial assets with credit risk exposure…continued

5

(expressed in Eastern Caribbean dollars)

43,909

–
–

43,909

–
–
–

–
–
–

Real
estate
$’000

90,816

–
–

90,816

–
–
–

–
–
–

Wholesale
and retail
trade
$’000

175,507

–
–

110,709

–
–
13,802

–
5,452
45,544

Public
sector
$’000

201,574

45,709
2,301

115,593

–
–
37,971

–
–
–

Other
industries
$’000

178,793

–
–

–

3,317
42,565
132,911

–
–
–

Individuals
$’000

(28)

813,178

45,709
2,301

373,094

3,317
42,565
184,684

110,512
5,452
45,544

Total
$’000

Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements

September 30, 2013
(expressed in Eastern Caribbean dollars)

Financial instruments risk ... continued

5,117

–

–

–

As of September 30, 2012

–

5,117

Financial guarantees
Loan commitments and other credit related
obligations

2,604

2,604

–
5,117

–

5,117

Tourism
$’000

As of September 30, 2013

Financial guarantees
Loan commitments and other credit related
obligations

Financial
institutions
$’000

(b) Industry risk concentration of assets and off balance sheet items … continued

5.1.7 Concentration of risks of financial assets with credit risk exposure…continued

5

(expressed in Eastern Caribbean dollars)

September 30, 2013

–

–

–

–

–

–

Real
estate
$’000

136

–

136

533

–

533

Wholesale
and retail
trade
$’000

1,241

1,241

–

23,588

23,588

–

Public
sector
$’000

5,958

3,655

2,303

5,922

4,564

1,358

–

–

–

–

–

–

Other
industries Individuals
$’000
$’000

(29)

12,452

4,896

7,556

37,764

30,756

7,008

Total
$’000

Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements
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(expressed in Eastern Caribbean dollars)
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Financial instruments risk ... continued

5.2.1 Market risk
The Group takes on exposure to market risk, which is the risk that the fair value or future cash flows of a financial
instrument will fluctuate because of changes in market prices. Market risk arises from open positions in interest
rate, currency and equity products, all of which are exposed to general and specific market movements and
changes in the level of volatility of market rates or prices such as interest rates, credit spreads, foreign exchange
rates and equity prices.
Non trading portfolios market risk primarily arise from the interest rate management of the entity’s retail and
commercial banking assets and liabilities. Non trading portfolios market risk also consist of foreign exchange and
risks associated with the change in equity prices arising from the Group’s available-for-sale investment securities.
5.2.2 Price risk
The Group’s investment portfolio includes securities that are quoted on the Eastern Caribbean Securities
Exchange. The Group is exposed to equities price risk because of investments held and classified on the statement
of financial position as available-for-sale. To manage this price risk arising from investments in equity securities,
the Group diversifies its portfolio. The Group does not hold securities that are quoted on the world’s major
securities markets.
5.2.3 Interest rate risk
The Group advances loans and receives deposits as a part of its normal course of business from both related and
third parties. The interest rates on loans generally reflect interest based on market rates. Investment securities and
customer deposits generally attract fixed interest rates. The Group mitigates its interest rate risk by matching the
maturity periods of its assets and liabilities. The following table below analyses the effective interest rates of each
class of financial asset and financial liability:
2013

2012

Loans and advances
Demand loans
Discount loans
Mortgage loans
Advances and overdrafts
Other

8-13%
11-22%
8-12%
8-12%
19.5%

8-13%
11-22%
8-12%
8-12%
19.5%

Investment securities
Government treasury bills
Other securities

4-6.5%
6.5%

4-6.5%
6.5%

(30)
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Financial instruments risk ... continued

5.2.3 Interest rate risk…continued

Deposits due to customers
Demand deposits
Savings deposits
Time deposits
Other – thrift, pension
Debenture stock

2013

2012

3.0%
3.0%-3.5%
4.8%
6.0%-6.5%
6.5%

3.0%
3.0%-3.5%
4.8%
6.0%-6.5%
6.5%

Cash flow interest rate risk is the risk that the future cash flows of a financial instrument will fluctuate because of
changes in market interest rates. Fair value interest rate risk is the risk that the value of the financial instrument
will fluctuate because of changes in market interest rates. The Group takes on exposure to the effects of
fluctuations in the prevailing levels of market interest rates on both its fair value and cash flow risks.
Interest margins may increase as a result of such changes but may reduce losses in the event that unexpected
movements arise.
The table below summarises the Group’s exposure to interest rate risks. It includes the Group’s financial
instruments at carrying amounts categorised by the earlier of contractual re-pricing or maturity dates.
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–
–
58,406,328
(31,951,142)

–

552,072,481

(315,173,251)

Total financial liabilities

Total interest repricing gap

26,455,186

236,899,230

–

–
–
19,493,658
–

2,431,661
–
93,501,154
–

58,406,328

–
–
6,961,528
–

–
–
96,361,812
44,604,603

3 - 6 months
$

552,072,481

Liabilities
Deposits due to customers
Other liabilities and accrued
expenses
Due under repurchase
agreements

Total financial assets

Assets
Cash and balances with the
Central Bank
Statutory deposits
Due from other banks
Treasury bills
Investment securities:
– Debt securities
– Equity securities
Loans and advances
Other assets

As of September 30, 2013

0 - 3 months
$

Financial instruments risk ... continued

5.2.3 Interest rate risk … continued

5

(expressed in Eastern Caribbean dollars)

September 30, 2013

(50,450,307)

90,569,062

1,101,179

–

89,467,883

(58,284,228)

57,400,683

–

–

–
83,343,780

–

–

57,400,683

–
–
57,400,683
–

–
–
–
–

3 - 5 years
$

–

83,343,780

25,059,552

1,006,832
–
24,052,720
–

–
–
4,506,915
–
40,118,755

–
–
–
–

1 - 3 years
$

–
–
24,586,661
11,025,179

6 months – 1
year
$

451,442,139

1,308,014

–

1,308,014

–

452,750,153

39,401,583
–
413,348,570
–

–
–
–
–

Over 6 years
$

66,736,112

8,339,705

–

8,339,705

–

75,075,817

–
20,156,877
–
2,461,133

46,874,508
5,451,569
131,730
–

Non-interest
bearing
$

(32)

119,720,006

794,039,370

1,101,179

9,647,719

783,290,472

913,759,376

42,840,076
20,156,877
612,303,700
2,461,133

46,874,508
5,451,569
128,041,731
55,629,782

Total
$

Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements

September 30, 2013
(expressed in Eastern Caribbean dollars)

Total interest repricing gap

Total financial liabilities

Liabilities
Deposits due to customers
Other liabilities and accrued
expenses
Due under repurchase
agreements
Long-term debenture liabilities

Total financial assets

Assets
Cash and balances with the
Central Bank
Statutory deposits
Due from other banks
Treasury bills
Investment securities:
– Debt securities
– Equity securities
Loans and advances
Other assets

As of September 30, 2012

–
–
–
54,430,876
(45,046,114

–

–
–

436,779,892

(187,386,994)

9,384,762

249,392,898
54,430,876

–
–
5,109,126
–

1,098,471
–
97,053,554
–

436,779,892

–
–
4,275,636
–

3 - 6 months
$

–
–
105,696,584
45,544,289

0 - 3 months
$

Financial instruments risk ... continued

5.2.3 Interest rate risk … continued

5

(expressed in Eastern Caribbean dollars)

September 30, 2013

(70,171,381)

75,685,130

1,193,643
–

–

74,491,487

(56,980,217)

108,940,826

–
2,100,000

–

106,840,826

51,960,609

3,320,862
–
48,639,747
–

�
–
4,973,749
–
5,513,749

–
–
–
–

1 - 3 years
$

–
–
540,000
–

6 months – 1
year
$

(27,291,737)

58,859,557

–
–

–

58,859,557

31,567,820

�
–
31,567,820
–

–
–
–
–

3 - 5 years
$

454,448,464

1,360,434

–
–

1,360,434

–

455,808,898

39,492,465
–
416,316,433
–

–
–
–
–

Over 6 years
$

56,888,523

9,136,972

–
–

9,136,972

–

66,025,495

1,796,287
23,649,921
–
2,300,899

32,826,819
5,451,569
–
–

Non-interest
bearing
$

(33)

124,460,544

745,193,687

1,193,643
2,100,000

10,497,406

731,402,638

869,654,231

45,708,085
23,649,921
603,660,429
2,300,899

32,826,819
5,451,569
110,512,220
45,544,289

Total
$

Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements

September 30, 2013
(expressed in Eastern Caribbean dollars)
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13,758,355
48,481,593

–
–

48,481,593
(34,723,238)

899,049,478
734,808,879
9,647,719
1,101,179
745,557,777
153,491,701

Total financial assets
Liabilities
Deposits due to customers
Other liabilities and accrued expenses
Due under repurchase agreements

Total financial liabilities

Net on-balance sheet position

–

–

167,817

–
–
–

–
–
–

63,398

167,817

–
–
–
–

–

104,133

–

63,684

GBP
$

63,398

–
–
–
–

–
–

–

36,603

11,789,392

–

–

26,795

EUR
$

–

951,383

1,006,832
10,748

45,778,633
5,451,569
115,445,288
55,629,782

USD
$

20,156,877
41,833,244
612,292,952
2,461,133

Assets
Cash and balances with the Central Bank
Statutory deposits
Deposits from other banks
Treasury bills
Investment securities:
Available-for –sale – equity securities
Loans and receivables – debt securities
Loans and advances
Other assets

As of September 30, 2013

XCD
$

720,328

–

–
–
–

720,328

–
–
–
–

–

666,315

–

54,013

Others
$

Total
$

(34)

119,720,006

794,039,370

783,290,472
9,647,719
1,101,179

913,759,376

20,156,877
42,840,076
612,303,700
2,461,133

46,874,508
5,451,569
128,041,731
55,629,782

The exchange rate of the Eastern Caribbean dollar (EC$) to the United States dollar (US$) has been formally pegged at EC$2.7 =US$1.00 since 1974. The table below
summarises the Group’s exposure to foreign currency exchange risk of September 30, 2013. Included in the table are the Group’s financial instruments at carrying amounts,
categorised by currency. Because all significant assets and liabilities are denominated either in United States dollars or in Eastern Caribbean dollars, to which the US dollar is
pegged, there would have been no impact or equity, if at September 30, 2013 the EC dollar had weakened against other currencies.

The Group takes on exposure to the effects of fluctuations in the prevailing foreign currency exchange rates on its financial position and cash flows. Substantially all of the
Group’s transactions and assets and liabilities are denominated in Eastern Caribbean dollars or United States dollars. Therefore, the Group has no significant exposure to
currency risk.

5.2.4 Foreign exchange risk

5

(expressed in Eastern Caribbean dollars)

September 30, 2013

Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements

September 30, 2013
(expressed in Eastern Caribbean dollars)

Financial instruments risk ... continued

–
1,712,369
5,300
–
14,315,456
55,584,646
–
–
–
55,584,646
(41,269,190)

23,649,921
43,995,716
603,655,129
2,300,899
854,130,490
675,817,992
10,497,406
1,193,643
2,100,000
689,609,041
164,521,449

Total financial assets
Liabilities
Deposits due to customers
Other liabilities and accrued expenses
Due under repurchase agreements
Long-term debenture liabilities

Total financial liabilities

Net on-balance sheet position

USD
$

786,726
–
11,811,061
–

XCD
$

31,917,898
5,451,569
97,615,069
45,544,289

Assets
Cash and balances with the Central Bank
Statutory deposits
Deposits from other banks
Treasury bills
Investment securities:
Available-for –sale – equity securities
Loans and receivables – debt securities
Loans and advances
Other assets

As of September 30, 2012

5.2.4 Foreign exchange risk …continued

5

(expressed in Eastern Caribbean dollars)

September 30, 2013

46,091

–

–
–
–
–

46,091

–
–
–
–

14,506
–
31,585
–

EUR
$

188,420

–

–
–
–
–

188,420

–
–
–
–

64,190
–
124,230
–

GBP
$

973,774

–

–
–
–
–

973,774

–
–
–
–

43,499
–
930,275
–

Others
$

(35)

124,460,544

745,193,687

731,402,638
10,497,406
1,193,643
2,100,000

869,654,231

23,649,921
45,708,085
603,660,429
2,300,899

32,826,819
5,451,569
110,512,220
45,544,289

Total
$

Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements

September 30, 2013
(expressed in Eastern Caribbean dollars)
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Financial instruments risk ... continued

5.3 Liquidity risk
Liquidity risk is the risk that the Group is unable to meet its obligations associated with its financial liabilities when
they fall due as a result of customer deposits being withdrawn, cash requirements from contractual commitments,
or other cash outflows, such as debt maturities (or margin calls for derivatives). Such outflows would deplete
available cash resources for client lending, trading activities and investments. In extreme circumstances, lack of
liquidity could result in reductions in the statement of financial position and sales of assets, or potentially an
inability to fulfil lending commitments. The risk that the Group will be unable to do so is inherent in all banking
operations and can be affected by a range of institution-specific and market-wide events including, but not limited
to, credit events, merger and acquisition activity, systemic shocks and natural disasters.
The Group is exposed to daily calls on its available cash resources from overnight deposits, current accounts and
maturing deposits. Management sets limits on the minimum proportion of maturing funds available to meet such
calls and on the minimum level of inter-bank and other borrowing facilities that should be in place to cover
withdrawals at unexpected levels of demand.
The maturities of assets and liabilities and the ability to replace, at an acceptable cost, interest-bearing liabilities as
they mature are important factors in assessing the liquidity of the Group and its exposure to changes in interest
rates and exchange rates.
Liquidity risk management process
The Group’s liquidity management processes are carried out by the Group’s senior management and monitored by
the finance team including:
•

Day-to-day funding, managed by monitoring future cash flows to ensure that requirements can be met. This
includes replenishment of funds as they mature or are borrowed by customers. The Group maintains an active
presence in regional markets to enable this to happen;

•

Maintaining the liquidity ratios of the statement of financial position against internal and regulatory
requirements;

•

Monitoring the liquidity ratios of the statement of financial position against internal and regulatory
requirements; and

•

Managing the concentration and profile of debt maturities.

Monitoring and reporting take the form of cash flow measurement and projections for the next day, week and
month respectively; as these are key periods for liquidity management. The starting point for those projections is an
analysis of the contractual maturity of the financial liabilities and the expected collection date of the financial assets.
Funding approach
Sources of liquidity are regularly reviewed by management and the Board of Directors in order to maintain a wide
diversification by currency, geography, provider, product and term.

(36)
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Financial instruments risk ... continued

5.3 Liquidity risk…continued
Assets held for management of liquidity risk
The Group's assets held for managing liquidity risk comprise:
•
•
•
•
•

Cash and balances with other banks;
Loans and advances;
Certificates of deposit;
Treasury and other eligible bills; and
Government bonds and other securities that are readily acceptable in repurchase agreements with central
banks.

In the normal course of business, a proportion of customers' loans contractually repayable in one year will be
extended. In addition, debt securities and treasury and other eligible bills can be pledged to secure liabilities. The
Group would also be able to meet unexpected net cash requirements by selling securities. The Group can also
access alternative funds for short-term borrowing needs via the Inter-bank market, lines of credit with international
banks and repurchase agreements.

(37)
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510,881,028
285,064,634

Total liabilities (contractual maturity dates)

Assets held for managing liquidity risk (contractual
maturity dates)

497,235,738
8,356,311
–
–
505,592,049
258,674,673

Liabilities
Deposits due to customers
Other liabilities and accrued expenses
Due under repurchase agreements
Long-term debenture liabilities

Total liabilities (contractual maturity dates)

Assets held for managing liquidity risk (contractual
maturity dates)

As of September 30, 2012

503,051,953
7,829,075
–

Liabilities
Deposits due to customers
Other liabilities and accrued expenses
Due under repurchase agreements

As of September 30, 2013

0 – 3 months
$

12,554,047

56,015,925

56,015,925
–
–
–

27,644,216

62,984,130

62,984,130
–
–

53,921,171

79,370,806

77,345,772
780,661
1,244,373
–

43,630,028

131,337,628

129,679,019
510,630
1,147,979

3 – 6 months 6 – 12 months
$
$

539,807,893

118,611,519

114,835,912
1,360,434
–
2,415,173

539,564,077

99,427,867

98,119,853
1,308,014
–

1 – 5 years
$

(38)

1,095,877,749

759,590,299

–
230,919,965

745,433,347
10,497,406
1,244,373
2,415,173

–
–
–
–

1,123,528,280

804,630,653

–
227,625,325

793,834,955
9,647,719
1,147,979

Total
$

–
–
–

Over 5 years
$

The table below presents the cash flows payable by and payable to the Group with respect to non-derivative financial liabilities and assets held for managing
liquidity risk by remaining contractual maturities at the reporting date. The amounts disclosed in the table are the contractual undiscounted cash flows, whereas the
Group manages liquidity risk based on a different basis (see Liquidity risk management process), not resulting in a significantly different analysis.

Non-derivative financial liabilities and assets held for managing liquidity risk

5.3 Liquidity risk…continued
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(expressed in Eastern Caribbean dollars)

September 30, 2013
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Financial instruments risk ... continued

5.4.1 Fair value
Fair value is the arm’s length consideration for which an asset could be exchanged or a liability settled between
knowledgeable, willing parties, who are under no compulsion to act as and is best evidenced by a quoted market
price, if one exists.
The table below summarises the carrying amounts and fair values of the Group’s financial assets and liabilities:
Carrying value
2013
2012
$
$
Financial assets
Statutory deposits
Treasury bills
Due from other banks
Loans and advances
Investment securities
Other assets

Financial liabilities
Deposits due to customers
Long-term debentures
Other liabilities and accrued expenses
Due under repurchase agreements

Fair value
2013
$

2012
$

5,451,569
55,629,782
128,041,731
612,303,700
62,996,953
2,461,133

5,451,569
45,544,289
110,512,220
603,660,429
69,358,007
2,300,899

5,451,569
55,629,782
128,041,731
591,902,356
62,996,953
2,461,133

5,451,569
45,544,289
110,512,220
590,939,761
69,358,007
2,300,899

866,884,868

836,827,413

846,483,524

824,106,745

783,290,472
–
9,647,719
1,101,179

731,402,638
2,100,000
10,497,406
1,193,643

770,445,487
–
9,647,719
1,101,179

706,836,096
2,125,315
10,497,406
1,193,643

794,039,370

745,193,687

781,194,385

720,652,460

The following methods and assumptions have been used to estimate the fair value of each class of financial
instruments for which it is practical to estimate a value:
•

Short-term financial assets and liabilities
The carrying value of these assets and liabilities is a reasonable estimate of their fair value because of the short
maturity of these instruments. Short-term financial assets are comprised of cash resources and short term
investments, fixed deposits, interest receivable, and other assets. Short-term financial liabilities are comprised of
demand deposits, interest payable and certain other liabilities.

•

Loans and advances to customers
Loans and advances are net of allowance for impairment. The estimated fair value of loans and advances
represents the discounted amount of estimated future cash flows expected to be received. Expected cash flows
are discounted at current market rates to determine fair value. Except for the staff loans, the interest rates on
all other loans reflect the market rates, hence the carrying values are considered to approximate the fair values.
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Financial instruments risk ... continued

5.4.1 Fair value…continued
• Deposits from banks and due to customers
The estimated fair value of deposits with no stated maturity, which include non-interest-bearing deposits, is the
amount repayable on demand.
The estimated fair value of fixed interest-bearing deposits not quoted in an active market is based on
discounted cash flows using interest rates for new debts with similar remaining maturity. The interest rates on
the financial liabilities reflect the market interest rates, hence the carrying values are considered to approximate
the fair values.
• Investment securities
The fair value for loans and receivables and held-to-maturity assets are based on market prices or broker/dealer
price quotations. Where this information is not available, fair value is estimated using quoted market prices for
securities with similar credit, maturity and yield characteristics.
$48.5 million (2012: $64 million) of investment securities for which fair values cannot be reliably determined
were at cost less impairment. All other available for sale assets are already measured and carried at fair value,
less impairment, if any.
5.4.2 Fair value hierarchy
IFRS 7 specifies a hierarchy of valuation techniques based on whether the inputs to those valuation techniques are
observable or unobservable. Observable inputs reflects market data obtained from independent sources; and
unobservable inputs reflect the Group's market assumptions. These two types of inputs have created the
following fair value hierarchy:
•

Level 1 – Quoted prices in active markets for identical assets or liabilities. This level includes listed debt
instruments listed on exchanges.

•

Level 2 – Inputs other than quoted prices included within Level 1 that are observable for the asset or
liabilities, either directly (that is, as prices) or indirectly (that is, derived from prices).

•

Level 3 – Inputs for the assets or liabilities that are not based on observable market data (unobservable
inputs). This level includes equity investments and debt instruments with significant unobservable
components.

(40)
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Financial instruments risk ... continued

5.4.2 Fair value hierarchy…continued
The hierarchy requires the use of observable market data when available. The Group considers relevant and
observable market prices in its valuations where possible.
Level 2
$

Level 3
$

Total
$

Investment securities
- Available-for-sale investments – unquoted
- Available-for-sale investments – quoted

–
14,445,774

5,711,103
–

5,711,103
14,445,774

Total assets

14,445,774

5,711,103

20,156,877

Investment securities
- Available-for-sale investments – unquoted
- Available-for-sale investments – quoted

–
17,438,818

6,211,103
–

6,211,103
17,438,818

Total assets

17,438,818

6,211,103

23,649,921

As of September 30, 2013
Financial assets

As of September 30, 2012
Financial assets

The following table presents changes in level 3 instruments for the year ended September 30, 2013.
Level 3
$
As of September 30, 2013
Financial assets
Investment securities
- Available-for-sale investments - unquoted
Opening balance
Provision for investment impairment

6,211,103
(500,000)
5,711,103

If the market interest rate on the available-for-sale bond investment were to change by +/- 10%, the impact on
other comprehensive income would be an increase of $571,110 or a decrease of $571,110.
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Financial instruments risk ... continued

5.4.2 Fair value hierarchy…continued
The following table presents changes in level 3 instruments for the year ended September 30, 2012.
Level 3
$
As of September 30, 2012
Financial assets
Investment securities
- Available-for-sale investments - unquoted
Opening balance
Additions

6,182,353
28,750
6,211,103

5.5

Financial assets and liabilities by category
The table below analyses the Group's financial assets and liabilities by category:
Loans and
receivables
$

Availablefor-sale
$

Total
$

Assets
Due from banks and other financial institutions
Treasury bills
Investment securities
Loans and advances
Other financial assets

179,488,886
54,986,404
41,799,358
598,265,398
2,413,277

–
–
20,156,877
–
–

179,488,886
54,986,404
61,956,235
598,265,398
2,413,277

Total financial assets

876,953,323

20,156,877

897,110,200

As of September 30, 2013

(42)
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Financial instruments risk ... continued

5.5 Financial assets and liabilities by category…continued

Liabilities
Deposits due to customers
Other liabilities and accrued
expenses
Total financial liabilities

Financial
liabilities at
amortised
cost
$

Total
$

778,176,552

778,176,552

2,086,612

2,086,612

780,263,164

780,263,164

The table below analyses the Group's financial assets and liabilities by category:
Loans and
receivables
$

Availablefor-sale
$

Total
$

Assets
Due from banks and other financial institutions
Treasury bills
Investment securities
Loans and advances
Other financial assets

148,223,305
45,544,289
44,644,597
589,755,440
2,134,260

–
–
24,639,922
–
–

148,223,305
45,544,289
69,284,519
589,755,440
2,134,260

Total financial assets

830,301,891

24,639,922

854,941,813

As of September 30, 2012

Liabilities
Deposits due to customers
Other liabilities and accrued
expenses
Total financial liabilities

Financial
liabilities at
amortised
cost
$

Total
$

726,386,926

726,386,926

1,832,764

1,832,764

728,219,690

728,219,690
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Capital management policies and procedures
The Group’s objectives when managing capital, which is a broader concept than the ‘equity’ on the face of the
statement of financial position, are:
•

To comply with the capital requirements set by its regulators - the Eastern Caribbean Central Bank;

•

To safeguard the Group’s ability to continue as a going concern so that it can continue to provide returns for
shareholders and benefits for other stakeholders; and

•

To maintain a strong capital base to support the development of its business.

Capital adequacy and the use of regulatory capital are monitored quarterly by the Group’s management, employing
techniques based on the guidelines developed by the Basel Committee and as implemented by the Group’s
management for supervisory purposes. The required information is filed with the Eastern Caribbean Central Bank
(ECCB) quarterly for the commercial bank.
The regulatory capital requirements are strictly observed when managing economic capital. The Group’s regulatory
capital is managed by senior management and comprises two tiers:
•

Tier 1 capital: share capital (net of any book values of the treasury shares), general bank reserve, statutory
reserve, non-controlling interests arising on consolidation from interests in permanent shareholders’ equity,
retained earnings and reserves created by appropriations of retained earnings. The book value of goodwill (if
applicable) is deducted in arriving at Tier 1 capital; and

•

Tier 2 capital: qualifying subordinated loan capital, collective impairment allowances and unrealised gains
arising on the fair valuation of equity instruments held as available for sale.

Investments in associates (of which there are none) are deducted from Tier 1 and Tier 2 capital to arrive at the
regulatory capital.
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Capital management policies and procedures … continued
The table below summarises the composition of regulatory capital and the ratios of the Group for the years ended
September 30, 2013 and 2012. During those two years, the Group complied with all of the externally imposed
capital requirements to which they are subject.
2013
$

2012
$

Stated capital (net of the treasury shares)
Statutory reserves
General banking and other reserves
Retained earnings

36,000,000
10,726,756
7,461,949
62,389,111

5,000,000
10,000,000
34,185,054
60,093,478

Total qualifying Tier 1 capital

116,577,816

109,278,532

Revaluation reserve: available-for-sale investments
Reserves for losses on assets

5,234,740
17,494,128

6,988,749
20,960,710

Total qualifying Tier 2 capital

22,728,868

27,949,459

Total regulatory capital

139,306,684

137,227,991

Risk-weighted assets:
On-balance sheet
Off-balance sheet

580,204,000
33,593,000

592,708,000
12,452,000

Total risk-weighted assets

613,797,000

605,160,000

22.7%

22.7%

Tier 1 capital

Tier 2 capital

Basel ratio

Capital adequacy and the use of regulatory capital for the mortgage company are managed based on the following.
The Financial Institutions (Non-Banking) Act requires a reserve fund into which no less than ten per cent of the
net profit of the institution after deduction of taxes shall be transferred each year until the amount standing to the
credit of the reserve fund is equal at least to the paid up capital of that institution. There are no further capital and
reserve requirements by the regulators and no external monitoring of the capital base is conducted. The Group
was compliant with these requirements as of September 30, 2013 and September 30, 2012.
In order to maintain or adjust the capital structure, the Group may adjust the amount of dividends paid to
shareholders, return capital to shareholders, issue new shares or sell assets to reduce debt.
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Critical accounting estimates and judgements
The Group's financial statements and its financial results are influenced by accounting policies, assumptions,
estimates and management judgements, which necessarily have to be made in the course of preparation of the
financial statements.
Accounting policies and management's judgements for certain items are especially critical for the Group's results
and financial situation due to their materality.
Critical accounting estimated and assumptions
The Group makes estimates and assumptions concerning the future. The resulting accounting estimates will by
definition, seldom equal the related actual results. The estimates and assumptions that have a significant risk of
causing a material adjustment to the carrying amounts of assets and liabilities within the next years are addressed
below:
(a) Impairment losses on loans and advances
The Group reviews its loan portfolios to assess impairment on an annual basis. In determining whether an
impairment loss should be recorded in the statement of comprehensive income, the Group makes judgements
as to whether there is any observable data indicating that there is a measurable decrease in the estimated future
cash flows from a portfolio of loans before the decrease can be identified with an individual loan in that
portfolio. This evidence may include observable data indicating that there has been an adverse change in the
payment status of borrowers in a group, or national or local economic conditions that correlate with defaults on
assets in the group. Management uses estimates based on historical loss experience for assets with similar credit
risk characteristics and objective evidence of impairment similar to those in the portfolio when scheduling its
future cash flows. The methodology and assumptions used for estimating both the amount and timing of future
cash flows are reviewed regularly to reduce any differences between loss estimates and actual loss experience.
To the extent that the net present value of estimated cash flows differs by +/-10%, the provision would be
estimated $1,462,863 lower or $1,804,022 higher.
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Critical accounting estimates and judgements … continued
(b)

Impairment of investment securities
The Group determines that available-for-sale equity investments are impaired when there has been a
significant or prolonged decline in the fair value below its cost. This determination of what is significant or
prolonged requires judgement. In making this judgement, the Group evaluates among other factors, the
normal volatility in share price. In addition, for unquoted available-for-sale equity investments, impairment
may be appropriate when there is evidence of a deterioration in the financial health of the investee, industry
and sector performance, changes in technology, and operational and financing cash flows. Where observable
impairment factors are identified, this may give rise to an uncertainty regarding the recoverability of the
carrying value in the subsequent period and/or the eventual recoverability of the amounts invested in full.
The Group recognized provision for impairment of available for sale equity investments during the year
amounting to $3,111,602.

(c) Estimate of pension benefits
The present value of the pension obligation depends on a number of factors that are determined on an
actuarial basis using a number of assumptions. The assumptions used in determining the net cost (income) for
pensions include the discount rate. Any changes in these assumptions will impact the carrying amount of
pension obligations.
The Group determines the appropriate discount rate at the end of each year. This is the interest rate that
should be used to determine the present value of estimated future cash outflows expected to be required to
settle the pension obligations. In determining the appropriate discount rate, the Group considers the interest
rates of Government bonds that are denominated in the currency in which the benefits will be paid, and that
have terms to maturity approximating the terms of the related pension liability.
Other key assumptions for pension obligations are based in part on current market conditions. Additional
information is disclosed in note 16.
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8

Cash and balances with the Central Bank
Notes

2013
$

2012
$

8,889,081
2,598,000

7,916,343
(7,671,776)

11,487,081

244,567

Mandatory reserve deposits

35,387,427

32,582,252

Total cash and balances with the Central Bank

46,874,508

32,826,819

Cash on hand
Balances with the ECCB other than mandatory reserve deposits
Included in cash and cash equivalents

30

Commercial banks operating in member states of the Organization of the Eastern Caribbean States are required to
maintain a reserve with the ECCB equivalent to 6% of their total deposit liabilities (excluding inter-bank deposits
and foreign currencies). This reserve deposit is not available for use in the Group’s day-to-day operations, and is
non-interest bearing.

9

Due from other banks
Notes
Term deposits and operating accounts with banks with original
maturities of 3 months or less
Items in the course of collection from other banks
Included in cash and cash equivalents
Term deposits with other banks with original maturities greater
than 3 months
Interest receivable

Total due from other banks

30

2013
$

2012
$

92,896,951
3,505,088

75,045,714
3,733,432

96,402,039

78,779,146

30,760,771
878,921

31,165,771
567,303

128,041,731

110,512,220
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10 Treasury bills
Notes

Nominal
Value
2013
$

Cost
2013
$

Nominal
Value
2012
$

Cost
2012
$

40,500,000

40,049,800

31,756,000

31,268,662

40,500,000

40,049,800

31,756,000

31,268,662

Treasury bills at amortised cost
– OECS Governments with
original maturities of 3 months
or less and interest rates
ranging from 5.0% to 6.34%
Interest receivable

15,000,000
–

14,936,604
643,378

14,000,000
–

13,936,604
339,023

Total treasury bills

55,500,000

55,629,782

45,756,000

45,544,289

Treasury bills at amortised cost
– OECS Governments with
original maturities of 3 months
or less and interest rates
ranging from 3.5% to 7%
Included in cash and cash
equivalents

2

30

Government of Antigua and Barbuda bonds totalling $3,936,604 (2012: $3,936,604) have been hypothecated to
obtain general credit facilities from the ECCB.

11

Statutory deposit

Statutory reserve deposit with the Government of Antigua and
Barbuda

2013
$

2012
$

5,451,569

5,451,569

A subsidiary company has placed a statutory deposit with the Government of Antigua and Barbuda equivalent to
2½% of its deposit liabilities. The statutory reserve deposit is a statutory requirement as per section 17(a) of the
Financial Institutions (Non-Banking) Act, 1985. This reserve is non-interest bearing and is not available for the
Group’s day-to-day operations.
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12 Loans and advances

Business loans
Mortgage loans
Personal loans
Bridging loans
Staff loans
Credit card advances
Central Housing and Planning Authority (CHAPA) loans
Directors’ loans
Less:
Allowance for loan impairment
Add:
Interest receivable
Deferred interest income
Deferred loan origination fees
Total loans and advances

2013
$

2012
$

282,852,701
266,024,625
42,857,052
17,914,922
6,310,376
1,410,680
1,252,428
1,322,772

289,621,612
236,251,416
49,069,594
21,064,469
5,728,165
1,412,311
1,299,614
1,376,615

619,945,556

605,823,796

(21,680,158)

(16,068,356)

598,265,398

589,755,440

19,455,374
(3,266,775)
(2,150,297)

19,135,588
(3,308,117)
(1,922,482)

612,303,700

603,660,429

2013
$

2012
$

16,068,356
(2,312,084)
7,923,886

26,558,485
(12,161,115)
1,670,986

21,680,158

16,068,356

Allowance for loan impairment

The movement in allowance for loan impairment:
Balance, beginning of year
Write-off impaired loan balances
Provision for loan impairment
Balance, end of year

According to the ECCB loan provisioning guidelines, the calculated allowance for loan impairment amounts to
$23,372,302 (2012: $22,762,479) and the difference between this figure and the loan loss provision calculated under
IAS 39 has been set aside as a specific reserve in equity. The gross carrying value of impaired loans at the year end
was $43,082,220 (2012: $26,440,373). Interest receivable on loans not recognised for regulatory purposes
amounted to $15,801,984 (2012: $14,266,586), and is included in the reserve.
2013
$

2012
$

Current

115,135,382

107,136,428

Non-current

497,168,318

496,524,001

612,303,700

603,660,429
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13 Other assets
2013
$

2012
$

Credit card receivables
Prepayments
Bills receivable
Miscellaneous receivables
Suspense accounts

2,105,758
875,052
209,060
115,988
30,327

1,532,344
958,006
534,523
166,639
67,393

Total other assets

3,336,185

3,258,905

Current

3,336,185

3,258,905

2013
$

2012
$

Available-for-sale unquoted
Equity Securities (EC$)

6,701,103

7,201,103

Available-for-sale quoted
Equity securities (EC$)

14,445,774

17,438,819

Loans and receivables
Government securities
Corporate securities

2,461,743
43,337,615

3,159,845
43,688,466

Total loans and receivables

45,799,358

46,848,311

66,946,235

71,488,233

Allowance for impairment – available-for-sale unquoted
Allowance for impairment – loans and receivables

(990,000)
(4,000,000)

(990,000)
(2,203,714)

Total allowance for impairment

(4,990,000)

(3,193,714)

61,956,235

68,294,519

1,040,718

1,063,488

62,996,953

69,358,007

14 Investment securities

Interest receivable
Total investment securities
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14

Investment securities … continued
The movement in investment securities may be summarised as follows:
2013
$

2012
$

Available-for-sale
Beginning of year
Additions
Provision for impairment
Unrealised loss from change in fair value

23,649,922
–
(1,315,315)
(2,177,730)

25,562,122
28,750
–
(1,940,950)

End of year

20,156,877

23,649,922

45,708,085
(1,071,722)
(1,796,287)

47,099,274
(1,391,189)
–

42,840,076

45,708,085

All available-for-sale securities are non-current.
Loans and receivables
Beginning of year
Disposals (sale and redemption)
Provision for impairment

All loans and receivables, except for the cash and cash equivalents, are non-current.
Loans and receivables include $269,393 (2012: $270,000) classified under cash and cash equivalents (note 30).
There are no losses from disposal of investment securities.
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107
(696,374)

–
–

11,705,880

11,705,880
–

11,705,880

Closing net book amount

At September 30, 2012
Cost or valuation
Accumulated depreciation

Net book amount

22,137,221

26,781,022
(4,643,801)

22,137,221

22,826,179
10,509
(3,200)

22,826,179

11,705,880
–
–

11,705,880

Net book amount

26,773,713
(3,947,534)

Buildings &
building
improvements
$

Year ended September 30,
2012
Opening net book amount
Additions
Disposals/adjustments
Accumulated depreciation –
disposals/adjustments
Depreciation charge

11,705,880
�

At September 30, 2011
Cost or valuation
Accumulated depreciation

Land
$

15 Property, plant and equipment

(expressed in Eastern Caribbean dollars)

967,834

6,235,814
(5,267,980)

967,834

14,023
(293,938)

1,246,387
1,396
(34)

1,246,387

6,234,452
(4,988,065)

Furniture
and
fixtures
$

1,030,797

8,102,607
(7,071,810)

1,030,797

37,852
(227,458)

985,545
258,740
(23,882)

985,545

7,867,749
(6,882,204)

Equipment
$

269,469

564,261
(294,792)

269,469

225,852
(85,177)

113,013
241,633
(225,852)

113,013

548,480
(435,467)

Motor
vehicles
$

1,655,104

10,508,032
(8,852,928)

1,655,104

99,065
(637,108)

1,880,153
417,472
(104,478)

1,880,153

10,195,038
(8,314,885)

Computer
hardware
$

177,870

7,768,208
(7,590,338)

177,870

218,962
(602,491)

807,646
40,500
(286,747)

807,646

8,014,455
(7,206,809)

Computer
software
$

3,850

135,827
(131,977)

3,850

24,109
(4,828)

9,357
2,000
(26,788)

9,357

160,615
(151,258)

Car park
$

323,895

323,895
–

323,895

–
–

–
323,895
–

–

–
–

Work in
progress
$

(53)

38,271,920

72,125,546
(33,853,626)

38,271,920

619,970
(2,547,374)

39,574,160
1,296,145
(670,981)

39,574,160

71,500,382
(31,926,222)

Total
$

Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements

September 30, 2013
(expressed in Eastern Caribbean dollars)
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Net book amount

Cost or valuation
Accumulated depreciation

At September 30, 2013

Closing net book amount

Year ended September 30, 2013
Opening net book amount
Additions
Disposals/adjustments
Accumulated depreciation –
disposals/adjustments
Depreciation charge
Transfers

11,705,880

11,705,880
–

21,682,167

27,026,490
(5,344,323)

21,682,167

–
(700,522)
242,248

–
–
–

11,705,880

22,137,221
3,220
–

11,705,880
–
–

Land
$

Buildings &
building
improvements
$

15 Property, plant and equipment … continued

(expressed in Eastern Caribbean dollars)

779,468

5,287,901
(4,508,433)

779,468

971,148
(211,601)
–

967,834
23,235
(971,148)

Furniture
and
fixtures
$

1,134,559

7,950,843
(6,816,284)

1,134,559

507,501
(251,975)
24,916

1,030,797
331,153
(507,833)

Equipment
$

347,966

628,517
(280,551)

347,966

113,310
(99,069)
–

269,469
177,566
(113,310)

Motor
vehicles
$

1,383,068

10,371,150
(8,988,082)

1,383,068

513,603
(648,757)
272,833

1,655,104
99,785
(509,500)

Computer
hardware
$

34,254

7,689,706
(7,655,452)

34,254

44,143
(109,257)
–

177,870
8,262
(86,764)

Computer
software
$

1,650

135,827
(134,177)

1,650

–
(2,200)
–

3,850
–
–

Car park
$

908,943

908,943
–

908,943

–
–
(539,997)

323,895
1,125,045
–

Work in
progress
$

(54)

37,977,955

71,705,257
(33,727,302)

37,977,955

2,149,705
(2,023,381)
–

38,271,920
1,768,266
(2,188,555)

Total
$

Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements

September 30, 2013
(expressed in Eastern Caribbean dollars)
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15 Property, plant and equipment … continued
As of September 30, 2010 all of the Group’s land and buildings and improvements were revalued based on the
appraisal made by an independent firm of appraisers. Valuations were made on the basis of comparative recent
market transactions on arm’s length terms. The revaluation surplus net of applicable deferred income taxes was
credited to ‘other reserves’ in shareholder’s equity (note 26).
The following is the historical cost carrying amount of land and buildings carried at revalued amounts as of
September 30, 2013.
Land
$

Buildings
$

Total
$

Cost
Accumulated depreciation

2,302,078
–

19,492,331
(7,731,293)

21,794,409
(7,731,293)

Net book values

2,302,078

11,761,038

14,063,116

16 Pension asset
The Group operates a defined benefit pension scheme for all its eligible employees which commenced October 1,
1991. The assets of the plan are held in a seven member trustee administered fund, established by the Group with
four of the trustees appointed by the Board of Directors, and three appointed by the employees. The funds of the
scheme are invested under the control of the trustees and may be used only for the purposes of the scheme.
The Plan is valued every three years by an independent qualified actuary. The latest available valuation was
performed at September 30, 2011 using the projected unit credit method. At September 30, 2011, the actuarial
valuation showed that the Plan is over funded with net assets available for benefits representing 143% of accrued
projected plan benefits, and indicated a required contribution rate by the Group, for the next three years, of less
than 5% of pensionable salaries.
The amounts recognised in the statement of financial position are as
follows:
Present value of funded obligations
Fair value of plan assets

Unrecognised actuarial (losses) gains
Net asset recognised in statement of financial position

2013
$

2012
$

13,380,298
(20,830,425)

12,204,792
(19,618,725)

(7,450,127)

(7,413,933)

(574,947)

(271,693)

(8,025,074)

(7,685,626)
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16 Pension asset … continued
The movements in the defined benefit obligation are as follows:

2013
$

2012
$

Beginning of year
Interest cost
Current service cost
Benefits paid
Actuarial loss (gain) on obligations

12,204,792
891,958
673,567
(272,205)
(117,814)

10,469,606
753,979
568,241
(533,433)
946,399

End of year

13,380,298

12,204,792

The movements in the fair value of plan assets are as follows based on actuarial reports:
2013
$

2012
$

Beginning of year
Expected return on plan assets
Contributions
Benefits paid
Actuarial loss on plan assets

19,618,725
1,093,850
811,123
(272,205)
(421,068)

18,364,798
1,110,410
817,491
(533,433)
(140,541)

End of year

20,830,425

19,618,725

The major categories of plan assets as a percentage of total plan assets are as follows:

Cash and cash equivalents
Debt securities
Equity securities
Property

2013
$

2012
$

31%
26%
26%
17%

18%
37%
27%
18%

The pension plan assets include ordinary shares issued by Antigua Commercial Bank Limited with a value of
$91,350 (2012: $37,800). Plan assets include deposits held with the Bank with a fair value of $2,545,444 (2012:
$620,994). The actual return on plan assets was $672,782 (2012: $969,869).
Amounts for the current period and previous four periods are as follows:
2013
$
Defined benefit obligation
Plan assets
Surplus
Unrecognised (losses) gains at
end of year

2012
$

2011
$

2010
$

2009
$

13,380,298
(20,830,425)

12,204,792
(19,618,725)

10,469,606
(18,364,798)

9,559,395
(18,293,540)

9,547,067
(16,984,309)

(7,450,127)

(7,413,933)

(7,895,192)

(8,734,145)

(7,437,242)

(574,947)

(271,693)

2,309,016

1,481,688

815,247

(56)

[90] antigua commercial bank | annual report 2013

Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements
Antigua Commercial Bank Limited

Notes to Consolidated
Financial Statements
September
30, 2013
September
30,
2013
(expressed in Eastern Caribbean dollars)
(expressed in Eastern Caribbean dollars)

16 Pension asset … continued
The amounts recognised in the statement of comprehensive income are as follows:
2013
$
Current service cost, net of employees’ contributions
Interest on defined benefit obligation
Expected return on plan assets
Net actuarial (gains) loss recognised in the year
Net income recognised

264,783
891,958
(1,093,850)
–
62,891

2012
$
156,506
753,979
(1,110,410)
–
(199,925)

Assumptions used in determining the present value of the obligation were as follows:

Discount rate at end of year
Expected return on plan assets at end of year
Future promotional salary increases
Future pension increases
Future changes in Social Security ceiling

2013
%
7.0
5.5
4.0
–
–

2012
%
7.0
5.5
4.0
–
–

Contributions to the pension scheme for the year ended September 30, 2013 amounted to $402,339, being Antigua
Commercial Bank Limited: $358,756; ACB Mortgage & Trust Limited: $43,583 (2012: $376,822 – Antigua
Commercial Bank Limited, $336,391: ACB Mortgage & Trust Limited, $40,431). The Group’s contributions are
adjusted according to the actuary’s recommendations. Contributions expected to be paid to the plan for the
subsequent period are budgeted at $470,207.

17 Deposits due to customers
2013
$

2012
$

353,119,741
284,009,824
93,474,756
47,572,231

343,620,754
246,107,023
85,294,399
51,364,750

778,176,552

726,386,926

5,113,920

5,015,712

Total deposits due to customers

783,290,472

731,402,638

Current

699,946,692

579,961,002

83,343,780

151,441,636

783,290,472

731,402,638

Savings accounts
Time deposits
Current accounts
Other deposits

Interest payable

Non-current
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18 Other liabilities and accrued expenses
2013
$

2012
$

Trades payables and accrued expenses
Manager’s cheques
Escrow accounts
Other sundry payables
Statutory deductions payable
Bills payable

5,731,078
2,086,611
1,308,014
339,053
182,963
–

6,337,557
1,832,764
1,360,434
750,600
163,576
52,475

Total other liabilities and accrued expenses

9,647,719

10,497,406

Current

8,339,705

9,136,971

Non-current

1,308,014

1,360,435

9,647,719

10,497,406

19 Dividends
During the year, a dividend in respect of the 2011 and 2012 years, of $1,500,000 and $2,000,000 respectively, was
recorded. There was also conversion of shares in respect of the 2012 year where each $1 share was converted to
one (1) ordinary share and each $100 share was converted to one hundred (100) ordinary shares resulting in a total
of 5,000,000 ordinary shares, fully paid up. A share dividend declaration of one (1) new share for each existing one
(1) share held by shareholders on record as at July 12, 2013 was made, resulting in the issuance of an additional
5,000,000 ordinary shares with a total issue value of $31,000,000.
The dividend proposed in respect of the 2013 financial year end is $0.15 for each unit of share paid up capital or
EC$1,500,000 (2012: $0.40 or EC$2,000,000). The financial statements for the year ended September 30, 2013 do
not reflect this proposed dividend which, if ratified, will be accounted for in equity as an appropriation of retained
earnings in the year ended September 30, 2014.
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20 Taxation
2013
$
Income tax payable
Income tax payable, beginning of year
Current tax expense
Payments made during the year
Prior year under accrual

8,906,544
2,404,697
(8,275,823)
30,456

2012
$
7,153,816
1,730,981
–
21,747

Income tax payable, end of year

3,065,874

8,906,544

Income tax expense
Operating income for the year

9,269,291

18,054,054

Income tax expense at statutory rate
Effect of other permanent differences
Dividend income not subject to tax
Untaxed interest income
Prior years’ tax under accrual

2,336,940
705,206
(444,733)
(981,516)
30,456

4,283,411
132,755
(236,014)
(785,510)
21,747

1,646,353

3,416,389

Actual income tax expense

2

The effective tax rate for Antigua Commercial Bank is 25% (2012: 25%) and for ACB Mortgage and Trust is
20% (2012: 20%).
2013
2012
$
$
Deferred tax liability, net
Balance, beginning of year
(Credit) charge for the year
Movement on revaluation of available for sale securities
Movement on revaluation of buildings

7,935,764
(788,800)
(517,469)
(12,303)

6,752,045
1,663,661
(467,323)
(12,619)

Balance, end of year

6,617,192

7,935,764
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20 Taxation … continued
The components of the deferred tax liability (net of deferred tax assets) are as follows:
2013
$
Statutory loan loss reserve
Deferred tax on revaluation of available-for-sale securities
Pension asset
Revaluation of property
Deferred commission
Decelerated capital allowances
Balance, end of year

(

4,240,938
1,767,942
2,006,269
479,820
(1,376,810)
(500,967)
6,617,192

2012
$

)

5,132,246
2,285,411
1,921,407
492,123
(444,141)
(1,451,282)
7,935,764

The income tax payable does not represent amounts agreed with the Tax Authority. The amount is reflective of
the Group’s position concerning its tax balance with the Inland Revenue Department on the basis of its records.
However, as tax returns for years of assessment 1999 to the present have not been finalised with the IRD, there is
uncertainty as to the eventual outcome.

21 Related party transactions
Parties are considered to be related if one party has the ability to control the other party or exercise significant
influence over the other party in making financial or operational decisions.
A number of banking transactions were entered into with related parties in the normal course of business. These
include loans, deposits and other transactions. These transactions were carried out on commercial terms and at
market rates. The volumes of related party transactions, outstanding balances at the year end and related expenses
and income for the year are as follows:

Loans to Directors and key members of management
Loans outstanding at beginning of year
Loans issued during the year
Loans repayments during the year
Loans outstanding at end of year

2013
$

2012
$

3,190,163
1,559,364
(1,113,098)

2,549,144
2,820,434
(2,179,415)

3,636,429

3,190,163

No provisions have been recognised in respect of loans given to related parties (2012: nil).
Interest income earned on directors’ and key members of management’s loans and advances during the year is
$358,958 (2012: $261,496). The average interest rate on these loans ranges from 7% to 11.5% and they are granted
on an arms length basis.
2013
2012
$
$
Deposits by Directors and key members of management
7,575,545
4,856,904
Deposits at beginning of year
9,756,605
8,383,065
Deposits received during the year
(9,074,309)
(11,101,706)
Deposits repaid during the year
Deposits at end of year

5,539,200

4,856,904
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21 Related party transactions … continued
Interest expense paid on directors’ and key members of management’s deposits during the year is $219,051 (2012:
$176,442). Interest rates on directors’ deposits range from 3% to 5.5% and they are accepted on an arms length
basis.
Remuneration of key members of management
During the year, salaries and related benefits were paid to key members of management allocated as follows:
2013
$
Salaries and wages
Other staff costs
Pension costs

2012
$

972,299
234,067
31,564

929,796
222,681
31,039

1,237,930

1,183,516

The Group also incurred directors’ fees and expenses amounting to $1,112,353 (2012: $817,221).

22 Due under repurchase agreements
2013
$

2012
$

Antigua Pier Group Series A bonds

1,101,179

1,193,643

Total due under repurchase agreements

1,101,179

1,193,643

The repurchase agreements indicate that the Group agrees to transfer APG Bonds to the buyer and simultaneously
agrees with the buyer to repurchase said securities at a determined date. In all of the above cases the repurchase
price was equivalent to the face value.

23 Long-term debenture liabilities
2013
$

2012
$

Authorised: debenture stock

29,595,000

29,595,000

Issued and fully paid:
Debenture stock at beginning of year
Debenture stock redeemed

2,100,000
(2,100,000)

29,595,000
(27,495,000)

Debenture stocks

Debenture stock at end of year

–

2,100,000

(61)

ADAPTING TO CHANGING TIMES [95]

Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements
Antigua Commercial Bank Limited
Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements

September 30, 30,
2013 2013
September
(expressed in Eastern Caribbean dollars)
(expressed in Eastern Caribbean dollars)

23 Long-term debenture liabilities … continued
2013
$

2012
$

Debenture stock 14th issue at 6% p.a. maturing on March 31, 2015

–

2,100,000

Total long-term liabilities

–

2,100,000

During the year, several tranches of debenture stocks were redeemed prior to maturity. Five year debenture stocks
can be redeemed after a period of three years from issuance date.

24 Stated capital

Authorised share capital
150,000,000 shares at nil par value
Issued and fully paid:
10,000,000 ordinary shares of no par value
12,500 shares of no par value (originally issued at $100 per share)
3,750,000 shares of no par value (originally issued at $1per share)

2013
$

2012
$

150,000,000

150,000,000

36,000,000
–
–

–
1,250,000
3,750,000

36,000,000

5,000,000
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25 Statutory reserve
2013
$

2012
$

Balance at the beginning of the year
Transfer from income after taxation

10,000,000
726,756

10,000,000
–

Balance at the end of year

10,726,756

10,000,000

Section 14 (1) of the Antigua and Barbuda Banking Act of 2005 provides that not less than 20% of each year’s net
earnings shall be set aside to a reserve fund whenever the fund is less than the paid-up capital of the Group.

26 Other reserves
2013
$

2012
$

Regulatory reserve for loan loss
Revaluation reserve – property
Pension reserve
Capital reserve
Revaluation reserve – available for sale securities
General reserve

17,494,128
9,583,263
8,025,074
7,461,949
5,234,740
–

20,960,710
9,620,172
7,685,626
7,461,949
6,988,749
26,723,105

Total other reserves

47,799,154

79,440,311

2013
$

2012
$

Regulatory reserve for loan impairment
Balance at the beginning of the year
(Decrease) increase in reserves for regulatory purposes

20,960,710
(3,466,582)

14,329,716
6,630,994

Balance at end of year

17,494,128

20,960,710

6,988,749
(2,365,495)

8,462,377
(1,473,628)

Revaluation reserve for available-for-sale securities
Balance at the beginning of the year
Decline in market value of investment securities, net of tax of $721,299
Transfer of revaluation reserve on available for sale investments to profit
or loss (net of tax of $203,829)

611,486

�

Balance at end of year

5,234,740

6,988,749

Revaluation reserve - property
Balance at the beginning of the year
Reversal of revaluation released through depreciation
Deferred income taxes

9,620,172
(49,212)
12,303

9,658,027
(50,474)
12,619

Balance at end of year

9,583,263

9,620,172

An independent valuation of land and buildings was conducted in 2010 (note 15).
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26 Other reserves … continued

Pension reserve
Balance at beginning of year
Increase in pension reserve

2013
$

2012
$

7,685,626
339,448

7,079,946
605,680

Balance at end of year

8,025,074

7,685,626

General reserve
At the discretion of the Board of Directors, amounts are periodically appropriated from net income to general
reserve for general purposes and for possible future loan losses. The General Reserve was released to Retained
earnings to facilitate a 100% stock dividend, increasing the number of shares outstanding from 5,000,000 to
10,000,000 at a value of $6.20 per share.
Capital reserve
Included in this balance is an amount of $6,171,428 recorded in the prior years for share premium recognised.
Pension reserve
The Board of Directors has decided to appropriate annually out of net income the amounts necessary to maintain a
pension reserve equivalent to the pension asset.
Revaluation reserve – property
This represents the increase in property, plant and equipment’s carrying amount as a result of revaluation.
Revaluation reserve – available for sale securities
Certain available-for-sale securities are stated at market value with the unrealised gains (losses) reflected in equity
until realised.
Loan loss reserve
The reserve represents the additional provision required by the Eastern Caribbean Central Bank prudential
guidelines as compared to the provision measured in accordance with International Financial Reporting Standards,
including the interest on loans not recognised for regulatory purposes.

27 Other operating income
2013
$

2012
$

Fees and commissions
Foreign exchange
Recovery of loans written off
Dividend income
Miscellaneous income
Rental income

4,383,670
2,887,549
1,963,354
436,761
428,884
101,100

3,715,110
2,408,331
46,120
453,004
233,259
62,194

Total other operating income

10,201,318

6,918,018
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28 General and administrative expenses
Notes
Salaries and related costs
Utilities
Software operating expenses
Insurance expense
Printing and stationery expenses
Repairs and maintenance
Audit fees and expenses
Security services
Rent
Cleaning
Telephone, postage, telegram expenses
Advertising and promotion
Legal and professional fees
Licenses and taxes
Night depository
Subscriptions and fees
Cash purchases expenses
Agency expenses
Shareholders’ meeting expenses
Non-credit losses
ECCB expenses
Four C’s operating expenses
Vehicle expenses
Miscellaneous expenses
Wire services expense
Scholarship fund
Travel and entertainment
Hospitality Suite
Total general and administrative expenses

31

2013
$

2012
$

11,521,483
1,066,503
981,516
667,425
556,134
473,162
470,429
461,793
522,403
392,602
379,312
347,290
326,311
321,116
293,511
287,234
276,111
201,513
244,311
174,002
161,838
106,046
76,104
70,463
69,678
37,503
8,232
3,272

10,969,088
1,129,400
800,254
664,543
555,312
448,625
727,947
472,732
517,343
374,797
421,258
343,209
389,738
235,424
297,772
282,896
136,581
201,866
255,362
7,635
155,639
90,824
70,334
7,042
73,324
50,004
19,003
30,000

20,497,297

19,727,952

29 Earnings per share
Basic earnings per share is calculated by dividing the net profit attributable to shareholders by the weighted average
number of ordinary shares in issue during the year.

Net profit attributable to shareholders
Weighted average number of ordinary shares in issue
Basic and diluted earnings per share

2013
$

2012
$

7,622,938
10,000,000

14,637,665
10,000,000

0.76

1.46

The earnings per share calculation reflects a retrospective recognition of a 100% stock dividend disclosed in note
19.
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30 Cash and cash equivalents
Notes
Cash and balances with the Central Bank
Due from other banks
Treasury bills
Investments
Total cash and cash equivalents

8
9
10
14

2013
$

2012
$

11,487,081
96,402,039
40,049,800
269,393

244,567
78,779,146
31,268,662
270,000

148,208,313

110,562,375

31 Salaries and related costs
2013
$
Salaries, wages and allowances
Other staff costs
Statutory deductions
Staff incentive scheme
Pension income
Total salaries and related costs

9,871,964
710,526
629,183
203,336
106,474
11,521,483

2012
$
9,634,345
567,581
558,338
368,318
(159,494)
10,969,088

32 Commitments and contingencies
Pending litigation
Various actions and legal proceedings may arise against the Group during the normal course of business. The
Group is currently involved in one employee-related legal matter; for which the outcome cannot be presently
determined. The amount of the liability, if any, will be contingent on the eventual outcome of court proceedings
and will be recognised at that time.
Credit related commitments
The contractual amounts of the Group’s off-balance sheet financial instruments that commit it to extend credit to
customers are listed below:

Undrawn commitments to extend advances

2013
$

2012
$

30,756,068

4,896,295
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32 Commitments and contingencies … continued
Off balance sheet items
The Group had letters of credit outstanding at the year end in the following amounts:
2013
$

2012
$

7,008,444

7,555,795

Up to 1 year
$

Total
$

30,756,068

30,756,068

Letters of credit

7,008,444

7,008,444

As at September 30, 2012
Loan commitments (undrawn)

4,896,295

4,896,295

Letters of credit

7,555,795

7,555,795

Letters of Credit
The maturity profile of off-balance sheet items is as follows:

As at September 30, 2013
Loan commitments (undrawn)
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